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Directors’ Report 
 
The Board of Directors of UBL Fund Managers Limited is pleased to present to you the Annual Report of “Al-Ameen Islamic 
Retirement Savings Fund (AIRSF)” for the year ended June 30, 2018. 
 

 
Economy Review – FY18 
 
The Fiscal Year 2018 remained yet another eventful year for Pakistan as the country posted a real GDP growth rate of 5.8% 
highest in thirteen years. The main highlights in support of this strong momentum were low inflation and strong growth in 
private sector credit off-take (17%YoY) amid low interest rate environment. However, rising industrial expansion, growing 
aggregate demand and increased government spending resulted in external and fiscal deficits beyond projection.  
 
The Headline Inflation for FY18 remained moderate, averaging to 3.9%YoY against 4.2% in FY17 largely due to low food 
inflation. Consequently, the CPI inflation stood well within the SBP’s full year inflation target of 6.0%. However, towards the 
end of the fiscal year, core inflation jumped to 7.1% reflecting a build-up of inflationary pressures amid heating economy. 
Change in international oil prices outlook, growing aggregate demand and lagged-impact of PKR devaluation are expected to 
remain prime drivers for inflation for the upcoming fiscal year.  
 
The SBP continued pre-emptive measures to allay concerns of overheating of economy. As per its latest MPC meeting, SBP 
highlighted that a strong fiscal growth in 2HFY18, growing inflationary pressures due to recent PKR devaluation and higher 
international oil prices has prompted need for near term price stability measures. As a result, the committee decided to 
increase policy rate by 100bps to 7.5% in Jul-18. We expect monetary tightening to continue further in coming months. 
 
The current account position continued to deteriorate reaching a deficit of USD 18bn in FY18 (43%YoY). The widening deficit 
was mainly on account of high trade deficit (+17%). Despite positive growth in exports (13%YoY), external account position 
continues to remain challenging for the authorities warranting additional policy measures. Balance of payment imbalances 
created by a large trade deficit, debt servicing and low realization of foreign direct investments, eventually led to pressure on 
foreign exchange reserves. As a result, country’s foreign reserves fell from USD21bn to USD16bn a decline of 23%. This 
ultimately led to pressure on rupee and resulted in depreciation of ~20% since last year. We expect the recent corrective 
policy measures by central bank to discourage imports and provide relief to exports, thus lead to improvement in overall 
external account position going forward. 
  
On the fiscal side, higher government spending amidst low tax collection augmented fiscal deficit to a new high in recent years 
(~7%) than previously anticipated (4.1%). In a bid to increase tax-base, the government introduced tax amnesty scheme to 
encourage documentation of the economy and improve reserve position. However, response to this scheme has been below 
expectations and the next government will have to initiate some austerity measures including cut in its development spending 
in order to contain its deficit.  
 
During FY18, yields on short and long term tenor witnessed changes aligned with SBP’s monetary policy tightening. Yield on 
3M, 6M and 12M T-Bills increased by 79bps, 90bps and 116bps, respectively. Similarly, yield on 3-year, 5-year and 10-year 
bonds increased 180bps, 171bps and 86bps, respectively. 
 
In light of recent elections, prospect of a stable government will bode well for the country’s economy. In a bid to counter 
current economic challenges we expect a bundle of austerity measures including but not limited to re-entry into IMF’s 
program, financial support from China and other friendly nations, issuance of Eurobonds or investment bonds for expatriates 
as well as extensive reforms on domestic front. Corrective measures by the newly formed Govt will lower GDP growth in FY19 
this will aid in stabilizing economy over medium term (GDP growth: +4.5-5%). 
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Debt Market Review – FY18 

 
The International Crude Oil prices exhibited an upward trend for the fiscal year. The prices increased from USD 45-per barrel 
increasing as much as ~70% closing at a new high of USD ~80 per barrel. Increasing oil prices, higher commodity prices (with 
exception of sugar) along with lagged impact of PKR devaluation (+16%) aided in increasing inflation rate to 4.4% for 
4QFY18. Core measures of inflation witnessed an upward trajectory where NFNE which is somewhat sticky in nature 
increased to 7.1% by end of FY18. Taking cues from this trend we expect SBP to continue its current monetary tightening 
policy. 
  
In twelve PIB auctions for FY18 conducted during the year, the government raised PKR~102bn (PKR ~894bn in FY17) against 
target of PKR 330bn. Consequently, outstanding amount for the PIBs in the market increased to PKR 29.47trn. Participation in 
the auctions was largely skewed towards three and five year paper in line with interest rate hikes. Cut off yields in June 
auction trimmed to 7.5%, 8.5% and 8.7% for three, five and ten year PIB instruments respectively. In July’18 PIB Auction the 
government accepted PKR ~6.9bn.  
 
The yield curve based on government securities of various maturities has shifted upwards in line with the ongoing increasing 
discounts rates. Yield on 3M, 6M and 12M T-Bills increased by 79bps, 90bps and 116bps, respectively. Similarly, yield on 3-
year, 5-year and 10-year bonds increased 180bps, 171bps and 86bps, respectively. The spread between annualized yields of 
1-year T-bills (7.20% p.a.) and 10-year PIBs (9.03% p.a.) stood at 1.83% as of 30 June 2018. 
 

 
Stock Market Review for FY18 
 
In the aftermath of distressing events in FY18, the KSE-100 index posted a cumulative loss of 10% after a prolonged period of 
8-years. Market’s decline was largely driven by a series of tensed political events, burgeoning concerns on macro-economic 
front along with continued sell-off by foreign investors (USD289mn). With growing uncertainties, market participants remained 
cautious, keeping average market-traded volumes depressed (84mn).   
 
The benchmark index commenced the year with high hopes but soon suffered foreign outflows post MSCI inclusion. A series 
of setbacks augmented uncertainties during 1HFY18, keeping the equity market in a jittery position and pushing the index to a 
low of 37,919 points. The primary highlights among these were disqualification of sitting PM followed by barring of Finance 
Minister to run office; leaving little room to focus on economy. This was followed by a 21-day protest by TLP against the 
government pushing the regime into isolation. Without any proper economic manager in place, the country stood open to 
increasing hazards on the macroeconomic fronts.  
 
With political tensions, concerns on external account started to unearth as support from low oil prices started to fade away. In 
the 3QFY18, some positive triggers like appointment of Finance Minister, smooth senate elections, announcement of tax 
amnesty scheme along with introduction of essential policy action prompted interest by market participants, leading to inflow of 
USD 31mn.  
 
However, the concerns on macroeconomic front remained strong, requiring further use of policy actions. The full year FY18 
current account deficit augmented to ~USD18bn (+43%YoY) further weighing down investor sentiment. Moreover, fiscal deficit 
came in much higher at ~7%. Mushrooming twin-deficit financing requirements weakened foreign reserves position. SBP’s 
reserves were down to ~USD10bn at end of FY18, further deteriorating investor confidence.  
On the international front, US Fed continued on its monetary tightening policy by 25bps to 2% during FY18. We expect this 
stance to continue in CY18. International oil prices mounted to a 4-year high of USD80/bbl amid better co-operation between 
member OPEC and Non-OPEC countries. Overall, commodity prices also rallied upwards with growing demands from 
importing countries. Escalation of ongoing trade-war is expected to push oil prices downhill. This will be favorable for a high 
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energy importing country like Pakistan. Moreover, a stable government will also resume work on the multi-billion CPEC 
project.  
 
Going forward, remedial measures taken by central bank combined with austerity by newly formed Govt will enable corrective 
measures and stabilize economy over medium term. Moreover, subsiding political tensions, steep discount (~24% from its 
peak) along with a high earnings-yield offering (~12%) is expected to strengthen investor sentiment and bring investor’s 
interest back in the local equity market.. 
 

 
Islamic Finance Review – FY18 

 
The 1HFY18 stood challenging for the Islamic banking industry amid lower interest rates and benign inflation. However, as 
economy suffered issues of excessive demand SBP embarked on a pre-emptive monetary-tightening approach bringing policy 
rate upwards to 7.5% in Jul-18. Increase in discount-rates will remain positive for Islamic banks and financial institutions.  
 
Despite high competition from conventional banking systems, Islamic banking industry grew at a good pace in FY18. The 
asset base of the Islamic Banking Industry grew to PKR 2,334bn (23.8%YoY Mar’18). Deposits of Islamic Banking Industry 
grew by PKR 31bn reaching PKR 1,916bn. The market share of Islamic banking assets and deposits in the overall banking 
industry was recorded at 13.5% and 14.6%, respectively at end of Mar’18. 
 
With efforts concerted towards increasing exports, SBP introduced Financing Facility (ILTFF) on the basis of Mudarabah 
which is a Shariah compliant alternative to conventional Long Term Financing Facility (LTFF). This will aid in meeting growing 
demand of exporters seeking Shariah compliance along with expand asset base of Islamic banking system. Going forward, we 
expect the Islamic Finance Industry to maintain its growth trajectory and increase its market share in the overall banking 
industry.. 

 
 
Future Outlook 
 
After a successful general elections process, a climate of political-stability is expected to reign in the country. The newly 
elected PTI government will face economic challenges in the months to follow, necessitating fresh loans from  international 
financial institutions, including IMF, issuance of Eurobonds or Sukuk in international markets targeting expatriates, as well as 
possible financial support from China for sustaining foreign reserves position. We believe new PTI Govt to opt for effective and 
immediate reforms on fiscal side. This may involve cutting development expenditures, subsidies for power and agriculture and 
divesting in PSEs.  
 
Taking cues from its recent bailout package for Argentina, we expect a similar support-program amounting in double-digits for 
Pakistan. Moreover, IMF will also work with the new government to smooth future debt repayments and push for endeavors to 
expand exports base and to make them more competitive.  
 
Lagged impact of PKR devaluation, higher oil prices along with excessive demand will push inflation upwards requiring further 
use of price stability measures. We expect monetary tightening to continue, potentially pulling policy-rate upwards to 8.0-8.5%. 
On international front, political climate in US Mid-Term elections in Nov’18 and ongoing trade-war is expected to have medium 
term implications for oil price.  
 
We expect the corrective policy course to bring about a slowdown in the economy for FY19. We believe these corrective 
measures will be important for stabilizing economy over medium term. Furthermore, improved security, better energy situation 
along with a stable regime will stand pivotal in bringing overall GDP growth to sustainable 5.0% level.. 
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Fund Performance and operational review 

 
Al-Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund 
 
The Fund comprises of three sub funds namely Equity sub-fund, Debt sub-fund and Money Market sub-fund. The Fund as a 
whole earned a gross loss of PKR 162.823 million and net operating loss of PKR 210.537 million during the year and fund size 
stood at PKR 2,565.478 million as at the year end. Performance review for each sub Funds is given below. 
 
 
Equity Sub-Fund 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018, the sub-fund earned a gross loss of PKR 207.381 million and net operating loss of PKR 
237.737 million. The net assets of the sub-fund stood at PKR 1,492.286 million representing net asset value of PKR 632.10 
per unit as at June 30, 2018. 
 
 
Debt Sub Fund 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018,, the sub-fund earned a gross income of PKR 26.893 million and net operating income of 
PKR 16.028 million. The net assets of the sub-fund stood at PKR 638.457 million representing net asset value of PKR 163.72 
per unit as at June 30, 2018. 
 
 
Money Market Sub Fund 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2018,, the sub-fund earned a gross income of PKR 17.665 million and net operating income of 
PKR 11.172 million. The net assets of the sub-fund stood at PKR 434.735 million representing net asset value of PKR 158.08 
per unit as at June 30, 2018. 

 
 
 
Auditors 
 
The present statutory auditors M/s Deloitte Yousuf Adil & Co., Chartered Accountants being the auditor of the Fund are 
eligible for re-appointment for the year ending June 30, 2019. 
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Fund Manager’s Report – Al-Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund (AIRSF)  

 

i) Description of the Voluntary Pension Scheme (VPS) category and type 

Shariah Compliant Voluntary Pension Scheme / Open-end 

 

ii) Statement of VPS investment objective 

AIRSF is a Shariah-compliant open-end fund that aims to provide a secure source of savings and 

regular income after retirement to the Participants. The Participants would contribute to the Fund during 

their working life and would typically withdraw from the Fund on or after retirement. 

iii) Explanation as to whether the VPS achieved its stated objective 

The Pension Scheme achieved its stated objective.  

 

iv) Statement of benchmark(s) relevant to the VPS 

None 

 

v) Comparison of the VPS performance during the period  

 

 
 

Al-Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund FY'18 

High Volatility -10.7% 

Medium volatility -5.6% 

Low volatility -1.4% 

Lower volatility 2.9% 

 

 

vi) Description of the strategies and policies employed during the period under review in relation to 

the VPS performance 

 

The Equity Sub Fund generated a return of -14.07% during FY18. Significant exposure was maintained 

in Oil & Gas Exploration Companies (21%), Fertilizer (13%) and Cement companies (11%). 

 

The Debt Sub Fund generated a yield of 2.78% p.a. during FY17. The Debt Sub Fund maintained 

majority exposure in cash and government securities during the year, which benefited the performance. 

 

The Money Market Sub Fund generated a yield of 3.32% p.a. Limited investable instruments in the 

Islamic money market result in fewer investment opportunities.  

   

Monthly Yield Jul'17 Aug'17 Sep'17 Oct'17 Nov'17 Dec'17 Jan'18 Feb'18 Mar'18 Apr'18 May'18 Jun'18 FYTD
AIRSF Debt (p.a)* -4.88% 2.17% 3.07% 3.64% 3.54% 3.42% 3.24% 2.50% 3.02% 4.84% 4.36% 5.01% 2.78%

AIRSF Money Market (p.a)* 1.76% 2.84% 3.09% 3.41% 3.35% 3.25% 3.57% 3.19% 3.43% 4.40% 4.00% 3.64% 3.32%

AIRSF Equity -0.80% -11.38% 1.58% -6.66% 0.11% 0.80% 8.02% -3.05% 4.80% 0.75% -4.76% -2.99% -14.07%
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vii) Disclosure of the VPS asset allocation as at the date of the report and particulars of significant 

changes in asset allocation since the last report (if applicable) 

 

Asset Allocation (% of Total Assets) Jun-17 Jun-18 

Gop Ijarah Sukuk 80% 25% 

TFC/Sukuk 3% 2% 

Placements with banks 0% 0% 

Cash & Equivalent 14% 71% 

Others 3% 3% 

Leverage Nil Nil 

UIRSF Money Market (% of Total 
Assets) 

Jun-17 Jun-18 

Gop Ijarah Sukuk 18% 16% 

TFC/Sukuk 0% 0% 

Placements with banks 0% 16% 

Cash & Equivalent 79% 64% 

Others 3% 4% 

Leverage Nil Nil 

URSF Equity (% of Total Assets) Jun-17 Jun-18 

Equities 85% 93% 

Cash & Equivalent 13% 5% 

Others 2% 2% 

Leverage Nil Nil 

 

viii) Analysis of the VPS performance 

 
 

ix) Changes in total NAV and NAV per unit since the last review period or since commencement (in 

case of newly established VPS) 

  

 

 

 

Net Asset Value NAV per unit 

30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17 Change 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-17 Change 

Rupees (000) % Rupees % 

AIRSF-ESF 1,492,286 1,716,239 (13.05) 632.10 735.60 (14.07) 

AIRSF-DSF 638,457 482,324 32.37 163.72 159.28 2.79 

AIRSF-MSF 434,735 279,738 55.41 158.08 153.00 3.32 

 

AIRSF DSF: FY’18 Return: 2.78% p.a.

AIRSF MSF: FY’18 Return: 3.32% p.a.

AIRSF ESF: FY’18 Return: -14.07%
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x) Disclosure on the markets that the VPS has invested in including  

- review of the market(s) invested in and returns during the period 

The scheme has 3 sub funds which invest in the shariah compliant equity and debt / money markets 

actively.  Reviews of these markets is as follows: 

 

Debt Market Review – FY18 

The International Crude Oil prices exhibited an upward trend for the fiscal year. The prices increased 

from USD 45-per barrel increasing as much as ~70% closing at a new high of USD ~80 per barrel. 

Increasing oil prices, higher commodity prices (with exception of sugar) along with lagged impact of 

PKR devaluation (+16%) aided in increasing inflation rate to 4.4% for 4QFY18. Core measures of 

inflation witnessed an upward trajectory where NFNE which is somewhat sticky in nature increased to 

7.1% by end of FY18. Taking cues from this trend we expect SBP to continue its current monetary 

tightening policy. 

In twelve PIB auctions for FY18 conducted during the year, the government raised PKR~102bn (PKR 

~894bn in FY17) against target of PKR 330bn. Consequently, outstanding amount for the PIBs in the 

market increased to PKR 29.47trn. Participation in the auctions was largely skewed towards three and 

five year paper in line with interest rate hikes. Cut off yields in June auction trimmed to 7.5%, 8.5% and 

8.7% for three, five and ten year PIB instruments respectively. In July’18 PIB Auction the government 

accepted PKR ~6.9bn. 

The yield curve based on government securities of various maturities has shifted upwards in line with 

the ongoing increasing discounts rates. Yield on 3M, 6M and 12M T-Bills increased by 79bps, 90bps 

and 116bps, respectively. Similarly, yield on 3-year, 5-year and 10-year bonds increased 180bps, 

171bps and 86bps, respectively. The spread between annualized yields of 1-year T-bills (7.20% p.a.) 

and 10-year PIBs (9.03% p.a.) stood at 1.83% as of 30 June 2018. 

 

Stock Market Review – FY18 

In the aftermath of distressing events in FY18, the KSE-100 index posted a cumulative loss of 10% after a prolonged 

period of 8-years. Market’s decline was largely driven by a series of tensed political events, burgeoning concerns on 

macro-economic front along with continued sell-off by foreign investors (USD289mn). With growing uncertainties, 

market participants remained cautious, keeping average market-traded volumes depressed (84mn).   

The benchmark index commenced the year with high hopes but soon suffered foreign outflows post MSCI inclusion. 

A series of setbacks augmented uncertainties during 1HFY18, keeping the equity market in a jittery position and 

pushing the index to a low of 37,919 points. The primary highlights among these were disqualification of sitting PM 

followed by barring of Finance Minister to run office; leaving little room to focus on economy. This was followed by a 

21-day protest by TLP against the government pushing the regime into isolation. Without any proper economic 

manager in place, the country stood open to increasing hazards on the macroeconomic fronts.  

With political tensions, concerns on external account started to unearth as support from low oil prices started to fade 

away. In the 3QFY18, some positive triggers like appointment of Finance Minister, smooth senate elections, 
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announcement of tax amnesty scheme along with introduction of essential policy action prompted interest by market 

participants, leading to inflow of USD 31mn.  

However, the concerns on macroeconomic front remained strong, requiring further use of policy actions. The full year 

FY18 current account deficit augmented to ~USD18bn (+43%YoY) further weighing down investor sentiment. 

Moreover, fiscal deficit came in much higher at ~7%. Mushrooming twin-deficit financing requirements weakened 

foreign reserves position. SBP’s reserves were down to ~USD10bn at end of FY18, further deteriorating investor 

confidence.  

On the international front, US Fed continued on its monetary tightening policy by 25bps to 2% during FY18. We 

expect this stance to continue in CY18. International oil prices mounted to a 4-year high of USD80/bbl amid better co-

operation between member OPEC and Non-OPEC countries. Overall, commodity prices also rallied upwards with 

growing demands from importing countries. Escalation of ongoing trade-war is expected to push oil prices downhill. 

This will be favorable for a high energy importing country like Pakistan. Moreover, a stable government will also 

resume work on the multi-billion CPEC project.  

Going forward, remedial measures taken by central bank combined with entry into the IMF program will enable 

corrective measures and stabilize economy over medium term. Moreover, subsiding political tensions, steep discount 

(~24% from its peak) along with a high earnings-yield offering (~12%) is expected to strengthen investor sentiment 

and bring investor’s interest back in the local equity market. 

 

 

xi) Description and explanation of any significant changes in the state of affairs of the VPS during 

the period and up till the date of the manager’s report, not otherwise disclosed in the financial 

statements 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs during the year under review. 

 

xii) Breakdown of unit holdings by size 

Range of Units 

Number of 
Investors 

Number of 
Investors 

Number of 
Investors 

ESF DSF MSF 

0.0001            -     9,999.9999 3522 2818 1878 

10,000.0000   -   49,999.9999 41 69 54 

50,000.0000   -   99,999.9999 2 10 6 

100,000.0000 - 499,999.9999 1 1 2 

500,000.0000 & Above - - - 

Total 3566 2898 1940 

 

xiii) Disclosure on unit split (if any), comprising:- 

There were no unit splits during the period. 
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xiv) Disclosure of circumstances that materially affect any interests of unit holders 

Investment are subject to credit and market risk. 

 

xv) Disclosure if the Asset Management Company or its delegate, if any, receives any soft 

commission (i.e. goods and services) from its broker(s) or dealer(s) by virtue of transactions 

conducted by the VPS.  

No soft commissions are received by the AMC from its brokers or dealers by virtue of transactions 

conducted by the Pension Scheme. 













AL-AMEEN ISLAMIC RETIREMENT SAVINGS FUND

BALANCE SHEET

AS AT JUNE 30, 2018

Money Money

 Market  Market 

 Sub-Fund  Sub-Fund 

Note

ASSETS

Bank balances 4 81,042       454,539       280,788     816,369     218,725       66,425       222,003     507,153     

Investments - net 5 1,409,445  172,936       70,266       1,652,647  1,483,018    406,130     50,995       1,940,143  

Term deposit receipts - - 72,000       72,000       - - - - 

Dividend and other receivables 6 25,146       16,094         18,463       59,703       42,421         15,353       9,423         67,197       

Advance tax 7 510 272 192 974 510 233 131 874 

Total assets 1,516,143  643,841       441,709     2,601,693  1,744,674    488,141     282,552     2,515,367  

LIABILITIES

Payable to UBL Fund Managers Limited - 

Pension Fund Manager 8 2,441         1,017 786 4,244         3,250 1,047         430 4,727         

Payable to Central Depository Company 

of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 9 170 70 44 284 188 56 30 274 

Payable to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission of Pakistan 10 494 187 111 792 477 144 75 696 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 11 20,752       4,110 6,033         30,895       24,520         4,570         2,279         31,369       

Total liabilities 23,857       5,384 6,974         36,215       28,435         5,817         2,814         37,066       

NET ASSETS 1,492,286  638,457       434,735     2,565,478  1,716,239    482,324     279,738     2,478,301  

1,492,286  638,457       434,735     2,565,478  1,716,239    482,324     279,738     2,478,301  

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 12

Number of Units in Issue 13 2,360,849  3,899,731    2,750,091  2,333,120    3,028,072  1,828,383  

Net Asset Value Per Unit 632.10       163.72         158.08       735.60         159.28       153.00       

The annexed notes from 1 to 25 form an integral part of this financial Statements

____________________ ____________________

Chief Executive Officer Director

------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------------------

PARTICIPANTS' SUB-FUNDS

  (as per statement attached)

------------------------------------------------------------ Number of Units  -------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------- Rupees -------------------------------------------------------

For UBL Fund Managers Limited

(Pension Fund Manager)

2018 2017

 Equity

Sub-Fund 

 Debt

Sub-Fund 
 Total 

 Equity

Sub-Fund 

 Debt

Sub-Fund 
 Total 

______________________ 
Chief Financial Officer 
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AL-AMEEN ISLAMIC RETIREMENT SAVINGS FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Money Money

 Market Market

 Sub-Fund Sub-Fund

Note

INCOME

Financial income 15 5,709         32,285    18,454     56,448      3,696       23,796     12,666     40,158     

(Loss) / gain on sale of investments - net (75,765)      (3,499)     - (79,264) 217,415   729 - 218,144 

Dividend income 64,466       - - 64,466 43,519     - - 43,519 

Unrealized (loss) / gain on revaluation of investments 

   classified as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss - net (192,031)    (1,893)     (789) (194,713) 110,899   4,081       600 115,580   

(197,621)    26,893    17,665     (153,063)   375,529   28,606     13,266     417,401   

Impairment loss on equity securities classified 

as available for sale 5.3.2 (9,760)        - - (9,760)       - - - - 

Total (loss) / income (207,381)    26,893    17,665     (162,823)   375,529   28,606     13,266     417,401   

EXPENSES

Remuneration of UBL Fund Managers Limited -

 Pension Fund Manager 8.1 22,475       8,492      5,035       36,002      21,683     6,566       3,427       31,676     

Sindh sales tax on Pension Fund Manager's remuneration 8.2 2,922         1,104      655 4,681        2,819       854 445 4,118       

Remuneration of Central Depository Company 

 of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 9 2,046         774 459 3,279        2,018       613 319 2,950       

Annual fee to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission of Pakistan 10 494 187 111 792 477 144 75 696          

Auditor's remuneration 16 99 99 99 297 104 104 104 312          

Securities transaction costs 1,310         77 11 1,398        6,135       27 - 6,162       

Legal and professional charges 53 51 51 155 110 54 34 198          

Custody and settlement charges 65 7 - 72 654 5 - 659          

Charity 744 - - 744 521 - - 521          

Printing expense - - - - 4 - - 4 

Bank and other charges 148 74 72 294 36 35 40 111          

Total expenses 30,356       10,865    6,493       47,714      34,561     8,402       4,444       47,407     

Net operating (loss) / income for the year (237,737)    16,028    11,172     (210,537)   340,968   20,204     8,822       369,994   

Element of income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) 

  included in the prices of units less those in 

units redeemed - net (876) 1,255 2,807       3,186        63,028     667 1,941       65,636     

Reversal of Workers' Welfare Fund 11.2 - - - - 4,616       518 296 5,430       

Provision for Sindh Workers' Welfare Fund 11.2 - - - - (8,014)      (420) (217) (8,651)      

Net (loss) / income for the year before taxation (238,613)    17,283    13,979     (207,351)   400,598   20,969     10,842     432,409   

Taxation 17 - - - - - - - - 

Net (loss) / income for the year after taxation (238,613)    17,283    13,979     (207,351)   400,598   20,969     10,842     432,409   

The annexed notes from 1 to 25 form an integral part of this financial Statements

Chief Executive Officer Director

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------

For UBL Fund Managers Limited

(Pension Fund Manager)

_____________________ _________________

INCOME STATEMENT 

2018 2017

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

______________________ 
Chief Financial Officer 

SD SD SD



AL-AMEEN ISLAMIC RETIREMENT SAVINGS FUND

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Money Money

Market Market

Sub-Fund Sub-Fund

Note

Net (loss) / income for the year after taxation (238,613)  17,283   13,979     (207,351)  400,598   20,969    10,842    432,409  

Other comprehensive income for the year 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently 

to income statement 2.6.2

Unrealised loss on remeasurement of 

investments classified as available for sale - net (15,754)    -         - (15,754)    - -          -          - 

Reclassification of realized loss to income statement 

on sale on investments classified as available for 

sale - net 275 -         - 275 - -          -          - 

Reclassification of impairment loss to income statement

on equity securities classified as available 

for sale 5.3.2 9,760       -         - 9,760       - -          -          - 

5.3.1 (5,719)      -         - (5,719)      - -          -          - 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently 

to income statement

Total comprehensive income for the year (244,332)  17,283   13,979     (213,070)  400,598   20,969    10,842    432,409  

The annexed notes from 1 to 25 form an integral part of this financial Statements

Chief Executive Officer Director

------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------

For UBL Fund Managers Limited

(Pension Fund Manager)

_______________________ __________________

2018 2017

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

______________________ 
Chief Financial Officer 

SD SD SD



AL-AMEEN ISLAMIC RETIREMENT SAVINGS FUND

CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Money Money 

Market Market

Sub-Fund Sub-Fund

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net (loss) / income for the year before taxation (238,613)    17,283       13,979       (207,351)      400,598     20,969       10,842       432,409      

Adjustments for:

Financial income (5,709)        (32,285)      (18,454)      (56,448)        (3,696)        (23,796)     (12,666)      (40,158)       

Dividend income (64,466)      - - (64,466)        (43,519)      - - (43,519)       

Loss / (gain) on sale of investments - net 75,765       3,499         - 79,264 (217,415)    (729) - (218,144)     

Unrealized loss / (gain) on revaluation of investments 
classified as financial assets at fair value profit or loss - net 192,031     1,893         789 194,713       (110,899)    (4,081)       (600) (115,580) 

Impairment loss on equity securities classified 

as available for sale 9,760         - - 9,760 - - - - 

Element of (income) / loss and capital (gains) / losses included

876 (1,255)        (2,807)        (3,186)          (63,028)      (667) (1,941) (65,636)       

Provision for Sindh Workers' Welfare Fund - - - - 8,014         420 217 8,651 

Reversal of provision of Worker's Welfare Fund - - - - (4,616)        (518) (296) (5,430)         

(30,356)      (10,865)      (6,493)        (47,714)        (34,561)      (8,402)       (4,444)        (47,407)       

(Increase) / decrease in assets

Investments - net (209,702)    227,802     (20,060)      (1,960)          (41,377)      (154,354)   8,000         (187,731)     

Other receivables (3,691)        (6) (1) (3,698)          15,326       9,137         5,686         30,149        

(213,393)    227,796     (20,061)      (5,658)          (26,051)      (145,217)   13,686       (157,582)     

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities

Payable to UBL Fund Managers Limited - 
  Pension Fund Manager (809) (30) 356 (483) 1,192         185 94 1,471 

Payable to Central Depository Company (18) 14 14 10 51 8 8 67 

Payable to the Securities and

    Exchange Commission of Pakistan 17 43 36 96 189 38 19 246 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (3,768)        (460) 3,754         (474) (21,458)      232 (29) (21,255)       

(4,578)        (433) 4,160 (851) (20,026) 463 92 (19,471)       

(248,327)    216,498     (22,394)      (54,223)        (80,638)      (153,156)   9,334         (224,460)     

Dividend income received 64,256       - - 64,256         42,504       - - 42,504        

Financial income received 5,878         32,862       17,011       55,751         3,252         21,316       11,721       36,289        

Tax (deducted) / refunded by withholding tax agent - (39) (61) (100) 193 (60) - 133 

Net cash (used in) / generated from

operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Amount received on issue of units 794,991     534,558     448,277     1,777,826    511,499     252,757     226,181     990,437      

Amount paid on redemption of units (721,772)    (420,099)    (320,423)    (1,462,294)   (345,453)    (181,461)   (196,737)    (723,651)     

Reallocation among Sub-Funds (32,709)      24,334       8,375         - (19,685) (24,307)     43,992       - 

Net cash generated from financing

activities

Net increase / (decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents (137,683)    388,114     130,785     381,216       111,672     (84,911)     94,491       121,252      

Cash and cash equivalents 

at the beginning of the year 218,725     66,425       222,003     507,153       107,053     151,336     127,512     385,901      

Cash and cash equivalents 

at the end of the year

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances 81,042       454,539     280,788     816,369       218,725     66,425       222,003     507,153      

Placements and term deposit receipts - - 72,000       72,000         - - - - 

81,042       454,539     352,788     888,369       218,725     66,425       222,003     507,153      

The annexed notes from 1 to 25 form an integral part of this financial Statements

For UBL Fund Managers Limited

(Pension Fund Manager)

_______________________

Chief Executive Officer

81,042       454,539     352,788     888,369       218,725     66,425       

________________

Director

46,989       73,436       266,786      

222,003     507,153      

40,510       138,793     136,229     315,532       146,361     

----------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------

   in prices of units issued  less those in units redeemed - net

(178,193)    249,321     (5,444)        65,684         (34,689)      (131,900)   21,055       (145,534)     

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

______________________ 
Chief Financial Officer 

SD SD SD



AL-AMEEN ISLAMIC RETIREMENT SAVINGS FUND

STATEMENT OF MOVEMENT IN PARTICIPANTS' SUB - FUNDS

Money Money 

Market Market

Sub-Fund Sub-Fund

Net assets at beginning of the year 1,716,239  482,324     279,738     2,478,301    1,202,111  404,740     189,717     1,796,568  

Amount received on issuance of units 773,984     535,870     455,873     1,765,727    541,696     263,050     233,865     1,038,611  

Amount paid on redemption of units - net (721,772)    (420,099)    (320,423)    (1,462,294)  (345,453)    (181,461)    (196,737)    (723,651)    

Reallocation among Sub-Funds (32,709)      24,334       8,375         - (19,685)      (24,307)      43,992       - 

19,503       140,105     143,825     303,433       176,558     57,282       81,120       314,960     

Element of (income) / loss and capital (gains) / losses 

included in the prices of units sold less those in 

units redeemed - net 876 (1,255)        (2,807)        (3,186)         (63,028)      (667) (1,941) (65,636)      

(75,765)      (3,499)        - (79,264)       217,415     729 - 218,144     

Unrealized (loss) / gain on revaluation of 

investments classified as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss - net (192,031)    (1,893)        (789) (194,713)     110,899     4,081         600 115,580     

Impairment loss on equity securities classified 

as available for sale (9,760)        - - (9,760) - - - - 

38,943       22,675       14,768       76,386         72,284       16,159       10,242       98,685       

(238,613)    17,283       13,979       (207,351)     400,598     20,969       10,842       432,409     

Unrealised loss on remeasurement of 

investments classified as available for sale - net (15,754)      - - (15,754)       - - - - 

Reclassification of realized loss to income statement 

on sale on investments classified as available for 

sale - net 275 - - 275 - - - - 

Reclassification of impairment loss to income statement

on equity securities classified as available 

for sale 9,760         - - 9,760 - - - - 

in units redeemed - net

Net assets at the end of the year 1,492,286  638,457     434,735     2,565,478    1,716,239  482,324     279,738     2,478,301  

The annexed notes from 1 to 25 form an integral part of this financial Statements

_________________________

-------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------

(Loss) / gain on sale of investments - net

Other net income

For UBL Fund Managers Limited

(Pension Fund Manager)

Chief Executive Officer Director

__________________

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

2018 2017

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

Equity

Sub-Fund

Debt

Sub-Fund
Total

______________________ 
Chief Financial Officer 
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AL-AMEEN ISLAMIC RETIREMENT SAVINGS FUND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

1. LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

-

-

-

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

-

The Money Market Sub-Fund shall invest in short term debt instruments with time to maturity not exceeding six months, and in 

case of Shariah compliant Government securities, up to three years. The Fund can make investment in Shariah compliant 

securities issued by the Federal Government and the commercial banks having A+ rating. There are no restrictions placed by 

the VPS rules on such investments. The Fund can also make investment in securities issued by the provincial government, city 

government and government or a corporate entity (having credit rating of 'A' or higher) up to 10%, 5% and 5% of net assets of 

the Money Market Sub-Fund respectively.

As prescribed under the VPS rules, the Fund offers five types of allocation schemes to the contributors of the Fund namely High 

Volatility, Medium Volatility, Low Volatility, Lower Volatility and Life Cycle Allocation. The contributors have the option to suggest a 

minimum percentage of allocation to the above allocation schemes (subject to the minimum percentages prescribed in the offering 

document). Based on the minimum allocation, the Funds are allocated to the above stated Sub-Funds. The allocation to the Sub-

Funds has to be done at the date of opening of contributor's pension account and on an anniversary date thereafter. The 

contribution amount may be paid by the contributor on a periodic basis such as annual, semi annual, quarterly or monthly basis.

The title to the assets of the Fund is held in the name of the Trustee. 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in

Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards applicable in Pakistan comprise of:

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified 

under the Companies Act, 2017;

The Debt Sub-Fund shall invest primarily in tradable debt securities with weighted average duration of the investment portfolio 

of the Debt Sub-Fund not exceeding five years. At least twenty five percent (25%) of the assets in the Debt Sub-Fund shall be 

invested in securities issued by the Federal Government and up to twenty five (25%) of the Fund may be deposited with banks 

having not less than "AA+" rating. Composition of the remaining portion of the investments shall be as defined in the offering 

document.

Al-Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund ("the Fund") has been established under the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005

(the VPS Rules) and has been approved as a pension fund by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) on

January 29, 2010. It has been constituted under a Trust Deed, dated November 17, 2009, between UBL Fund Managers Limited as

the Pension Fund Manager, a company incorporated under the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 (now Companies Act, 2017)

and the MCB Financial Services Limited as the Trustee. The trusteeship of the Fund was transferred to Central Depository

Company of Pakistan Limited (CDC) (the Trustee) effective from March 31, 2014 through a supplemental trust deed dated February

21, 2014. The registered office of the Pension Fund Manager is situated at 4th Floor, STSM Building, Beaumont Road, Civil Lines,

Karachi.

The Fund is an unlisted open end pension scheme and offers units for public subscription on a continuous basis. The units are non-

transferable except in the circumstances mentioned in the VPS  Rules and can be redeemed by surrendering to the Fund. As per

the offering document the Fund cannot distribute any income from the Fund whether in cash or otherwise.

The object of the Fund is to provide a secure source of savings and regular income after retirement to the participants. The

participants would contribute to the Fund during their working life and would typically withdraw from the Fund on or after retirement

age. The Fund invests in a Shariah compliant diversified portfolio of securities under the Trust Deed. All the conducts and acts of

the Fund are based on Shariah. The Pension Fund Manager has appointed Shariah Advisory Council to ensure that the activities of

the Fund are in compliance with the principles of Shariah.

The Fund consists of three sub-funds namely, Al-Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund Equity Sub-Fund ("Equity Sub-Fund"), Al-

Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund Debt Sub-Fund ("Debt Sub-Fund") and Al-Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund Money

Market Sub-Fund ("Money Market Sub-Fund") (collectively the "Sub-Funds"). The main features of the investment policy for each of

the Sub-Funds are as follows:

The Equity Sub-Fund shall invest primarily in listed equity securities with a minimum investment of 90% of its net asset value in 

listed shares. The investment in a single company is restricted to lower of 10% of Net Asset Value (NAV) or the paid-up capital 

of the investee company. The investment in a single stock exchange sector is restricted to the higher of 30% of the NAV or the 

index weight, subject to a maximum of 35% of the NAV. The remaining assets of the Equity Sub-Fund shall be invested in any 

government security having less than one year time to maturity, or in a scheduled commercial bank having credit rating of 'A'.



-

-

2.2  Basis of measurement

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

2.4

2.5 New accounting standards / amendments and IFRS interpretations that are not yet effective

Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017, part VIIIA of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984, 

the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005 and requirements of the Trust Deed differ from the IFRS, the provisions of and directives 

issued under the Companies Act, 2017, part VIIIA of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984, the Voluntary Pension System 

Rules, 2005 and requirements of the Trust Deed have been followed.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except that certain investments have been 

carried at their fair values.

The following amendments are effective for the year ended June 30, 2018. These amendments are either not relevant to the Fund's 

operations or do not have significant impact on the Fund's financial statements other than certain additional disclosures. 

Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

Fund operates. These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees which is the Fund's functional and presentation 

currency.

IFRS 4 'Insurance Contracts': Amendments regarding the interaction of IFRS 4 and IFRS 

9.

Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' - Amendments regarding prepayment 

features with negative compensation and modifications of financial liabilities
January 01, 2019

IFRS 15 'Revenue' - This standard will supersede IAS 18, IAS 11, IFRIC 13, 15 and 18 

and SIC 31 upon its effective date.
July 01, 2018

Amendments to IFRS 2 'Share-based Payment' - Clarification on the classification and 

measurement of share-based payment transactions

IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' - This standard will supersede IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement upon its effective date.
July 01, 2018

Effective from accounting period 

beginning on or after:

January 01, 2017

January 01, 2017

Amendments to IAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' - Amendments as a result of the 

disclosure initiative

Amendments to IAS 12 'Income Taxes' - Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised 

losses

Amendments to IFRS that are effective for the year ended June 30, 2018

Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017 along with part VIIIA of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 

1984; and 

Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005 and requirements of the Trust Deed. 

Effective from accounting period 

beginning on or after:

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are only effective for accounting periods, beginning on or after the date 

mentioned against each of them. These standards, interpretations and the amendments (except IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments') are 

either not relevant to the Company's operations or are not expected to have significant impact on the Company's financial 

statements other than certain additional disclosures.

January 01, 2018

An entity choosing to apply the overlay 

approach retrospectively to qualifying 

financial assets does so when it first 

applies IFRS 9. An entity choosing to 

apply the deferral approach does so for 

annual periods beginning on or after  

January 01, 2018



Certain annual improvements have also been made to a number of IFRSs.

- IFRS 1 – First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

- IFRS 14 – Regulatory Deferral Accounts

- IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

2.6 IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' Impact Assessment 

2.6.1

Classification and measurement of financial assets

-

-

-

-

-

IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' was issued on July 24, 2014. This standard is adopted locally by the Securities and Exchange 

Commission of Pakistan and is effective from accounting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2018. 

All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost 

or fair value. 

Debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have 

contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at 

amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. 

Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows 

and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding are generally measured at Fair value through other 

comprehensive income "FVTOCI". 

All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss at the end of subsequent 

accounting periods. 

Key requirements of IFRS 9 are as follows;

Other than the aforesaid standards, interpretations and amendments, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has also 

issued the following standards which have not been adopted locally by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan:

Effective from accounting period 

beginning on or after:

Amendments to IAS 19 'Employee Benefits' - Amendments regarding plan amendments, 

curtailments or settlements.

In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an 

equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognized 

in profit or loss. 

IFRIC 23 'Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments': Clarifies the accounting treatment in 

relation to determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused 

tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 

12 'Income Taxes'.

IFRS 16 'Leases': This standard will supersede IAS 17 'Leases' upon its effective date.

Amendments to IAS 40 'Investment Property': Clarification on transfers of property to or 

from investment property

January 01, 2018. Earlier application is 

permitted.

IFRIC 22 'Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration': Provides 

guidance on transactions where consideration against non-monetary prepaid asset / 

deferred income is denominated in foreign currency.

January 01, 2018. Earlier application is 

permitted.

January 01, 2019

January 01, 2019

January 01, 2019

Amendments to IAS 28 'Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures' - Amendments 

regarding long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form part of the net 

investment in the associate or joint venture but to which the equity method is not applied. 
January 01, 2019



Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

Impairment of financial assets

2.6.2 Impact assessment

2.7 Critical accounting estimates and judgments

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Cash and cash equivalents

Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 

39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is 

presented in profit or loss. 

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit 

loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in 

those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no 

longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized. 

-

SECP through its SCD/AMCW/RS/MUFAP/2017-148 dated November 21, 2017 has deferred the applicability of above provision 

requirements in relation to debt securities for mutual funds.

-

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires as follows;

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below and have been 

consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards requires the management to make 

estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. It also 

requires the management to exercise the judgment in application of its accounting policies. The estimates, judgments and 

associated assumptions are based on the historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised if the revision 

affects only that year, or in the year of revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

Based on the analysis of Fund's financial assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2018 and also considering facts and circumstances 

that exists at that date, the Pension Fund Manager has assessed the impact of IFRS 9 on the financial statements as follows:

Listed equity securities and Term Finance Certificates classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - held for 

trading qualify for designation as measured at fair value through profit or loss upon application of IFRS 9 with value changes 

continue to recognised in profit or loss.

Listed equity securities classified as financial assets at 'available-for-sale' are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss 

upon application of IFRS 9 with value changes to be recognised in profit or loss instead of other comprehensive income. The 

change in fair value attributed to these financial assets amounting to Rs. 5.7 million during the current year would be recognised in 

income statement under IFRS 9.

The amount of change in the fair value of a financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is 

presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of such changes in other comprehensive income would 

create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalent comprise balances with banks and short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 

months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of assets and liabilities at cost.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where estimates and assumptions are significant to the 

financial statements as a whole are as follows:

(i)   Classification and valuation of financial assets (notes 3.2 and 5); and

(ii)  Impairment of financial assets (notes 3.2.5 and 5.2.2)



3.2 Financial assets

3.2.1 Classification

Financial assets are classified as follows:

a) Loans and receivables

b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

c) Available for sale

3.2.2 Regular way contracts

3.2.3 Initial recognition and measurement 

3.2.4 Subsequent measurement

a) Financial assets at 'fair value through profit or loss' and 'available for sale'

- Basis of valuation of equity securities

- Basis of valuation of government securities

-

The classification of financial assets depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. The Pension Fund 

Manager determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

Financial assets that are acquired principally for the purpose of generating profit from short-term fluctuations in prices are 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

These are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified as (a) loans and 

receivables, (b) held to maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. These are intended 

to be held for an indefinite period of time and may be sold in response to the needs for liquidity or change in price.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date - the date on which the Fund commits to 

purchase or sell the asset.

The investment of the Fund in debt securities is valued on the basis of rates determined by the Mutual Funds Association 

of Pakistan (MUFAP) in accordance with the methodology prescribed by SECP for valuation of debt securities vide its 

circular no. 1 of 2009 dated January 6, 2009 and circular no. 33 of 2012 dated October 24, 2012. In the determination of 

the rates MUFAP takes into account the holding pattern of these securities and categorizes them as traded, thinly traded 

and non-traded securities. The circular also specifies the valuation process to be followed for each category as well as the 

criteria for the provisioning of non-performing debt securities.

All financial assets are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given including the transaction cost 

associated with the acquisition, except in case of "financial assets at fair value through profit or loss", in which case the 

transaction costs are charged off to the income statement. 

Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets 'at fair value through profit or loss' and 'available for sale' are valued 

as follows:

Equity securities are valued on the basis of closing quoted market prices available at the stock exchange. A security listed 

on the stock exchange for which no sale is reported on the reporting date is valued at its last sale price on the next 

preceding date on which such exchange is open and if no sale is reported for such date the security is valued at an 

amount neither higher than the closing asked price nor lower than the closing bid price.

The investment of the Fund in Government securities is valued at their fair values (determined on the basis of average 

rates of brokers as announced by the Financial Markets Association of Pakistan), based on the remaining tenor of the 

security.

Basis of valuation of debt securities (other than government securities)



b) Loans and receivables

3.2.5 Impairment

a) Debt securities

b) Equity securities

c) Loans and receivables

3.2.6 Derecognition

3.3 Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.

All financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

These are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost.

Net gains and losses arising on changes in the fair value of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are taken 

to the income statement.

Net gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available for sale financial assets are taken to the statement of 

comprehensive income until these are derecognised or impaired. At the time of impairment or derecognition, the cumulative 

gain or loss previously recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income is shown in the income statement.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as 'loans and receivables' are carried at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method.

Gains or losses are also recognised in the 'income statement' when financial assets carried at amortised cost are 

derecognised or impaired.

The carrying value of the Fund's assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 

impairment. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of such asset is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised 

whenever, the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. impairment losses are recognised in the 'income 

statement'.

Provision for non-performing debt securities is made on the basis of time based criteria as prescribed under circular no. 33 

of 2012 dated October 24, 2012 issued by the SECP. Impairment losses recognised on debt securities can be reversed 

through the 'income statement'.

As allowed under circular no. 13 of 2009 dated May 4, 2009 issued by the SECP, the management may also make 

provision against debt securities over and above the minimum provision requirement prescribed in the aforesaid circular, 

in accordance with the provisioning policy approved by the Board of Directors and disseminated by the Pension Fund 

Manager on its website.

For equity securities classified as 'available for sale', a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 

below its cost is considered, among other indicators, as an indicator that the security is impaired. If any such evidence 

exists for 'available for sale' financial assets, the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the acquisition cost 

and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in 'income statement', is 

reclassified from other comprehensive income and recognized in the income statement. However, the decrease in 

impairment loss on equity securities are not reversed through the income statement. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired or have been 

transferred and the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

For financial assets classified as 'loans and receivables', a provision for impairment is established when there is an 

objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms. The amount of 

the provision is the difference between the assets carrying value and present value of estimated future cash outflows, 

discounted at the original effective interest rate.

Further, the directives issued by the SECP has provided the discretion to the Pension Fund Manager to apply markup / 

markdown (within the available limits as provided in the directives) to the yields of non-traded debt securities to arrive at their 

fair values.



3.4 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

3.5 Derivatives

3.6 Provisions

3.7 Collaterals

3.8 Taxation

3.9 Issuance and redemption of units

3.10 Element of income / (loss) included in prices of units issued less those in units redeemed

3.11 Net asset value per unit

The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit, as disclosed in the statement of assets and liabilities, is calculated by dividing the net 

assets of the Fund by the number of units in issue at the year end.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of assets and liabilities when 

there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise 

the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequent to initial measurement each derivative instrument is 

remeasured to its fair value and the resultant gain or loss is recognised in the income statement. Derivatives with positive fair 

values (unrealised gains) are included in other assets and derivatives with negative fair values (unrealised losses) are included 

in other liabilities in the statement of assets and liabilities. 

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the 

amount of obligation can be made. Provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Cash collaterals provided by the Fund are identified in the statement of assets and liabilities as margin and are not included as 

a component of cash and cash equivalents. For collaterals other than cash, if the party to whom the collaterals are provided has 

a right by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge the collaterals, the Fund classifies those collaterals in the statement of assets 

and liabilities separately from other assets and identifies the assets as pledged collaterals. Where the party to whom the 

collaterals are provided does not have the right to sell or re-pledge, a disclosure of the collaterals provided is made in the notes 

to the financial statements.

The income of the Fund is exempt from Income Tax under clause 57(3)(viii) of Part I of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax 

Ordinance, 2001.

Units issued are allocated at the offer price, prevalent on the day on which the applications for purchase of units are received, 

plus the allowable sales load. The units are issued on the receipt of cash / realisation of cheques. The offer price represents the 

net asset value per unit as at the close of the business day plus the allowable sales load and provision of any duties and 

charges if applicable. The sales load is payable to the Pension Fund Manager.

Units redeemed are recorded at the redemption price, applicable to units for which the Fund receives redemption applications 

during the business hours of that day. The redemption price represents the net asset value per unit as at the close of the 

business day less an amount that the Pension Fund Manager may consider to be an appropriate provision of duties and 

charges. Redemption of units is recorded on acceptance of application for redemption.

An equalisation account called the 'element of income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) included in prices of units issued less 

those in units redeemed' is created, in order to prevent the dilution of per unit income and distribution of income already paid 

out on redemption.

The 'element of income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) in prices of units issued less those in units redeemed' during the 

year is transferred to the 'income statement'.

The 'element of income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) in prices of units issued less those in units redeemed' account is 

credited with the amount representing net income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) accounted for in the net asset value and 

included in the sale proceeds of units. Upon redemption of units, the 'element of income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) in 

prices of units issued less those in units redeemed' account is debited with the amount representing net income / (loss) and 

capital gains / (losses) accounted for in the net asset value and included in the redemption price. 



3.12 Revenue recognition 

-

-

-

-

4. BANK BALANCES

 Equity

Sub-Fund 

Debt

Sub-Fund

Money

Market

Sub-Fund

Total
 Equity

Sub-Fund 

Debt

Sub-Fund

Money

Market

 Sub-Fund

Total

Note

Profit and loss sharing accounts 4.1 66,683        452,550      280,538      799,771        138,401      60,060       220,822      419,283       

Current accounts 14,359        1,989           250             16,598          80,324        6,365         1,181          87,870          

81,042        454,539      280,788      816,369        218,725      66,425       222,003      507,153       

4.1

5. INVESTMENTS - NET

 Equity

Sub-Fund 

Debt

Sub-Fund

Money

Market

Sub-Fund

Total
 Equity

Sub-Fund 

Debt

Sub-Fund

Money

Market

 Sub-Fund

Total

Note

Investments by category:

Listed equity securities 5.1 935,006      -              -              935,006        1,483,018   -             -              1,483,018    

Letter of rights 5.2 2,553          -              -              2,553            -              -             -              -                

Government securities

  - Ijarah Sukuk Certificates 5.4 -              162,618      70,266        232,884        -              392,609     50,995        443,604       

5.5 -              10,318        -              10,318          -              13,521       -              13,521          

937,559      172,936      70,266        1,180,761     1,483,018   406,130     50,995        1,940,143    

Available for sale

Listed equity securities 5.3 471,886      -              -              471,886        -              -             -              -                

471,886      -              -              471,886        -              -             -              -                

1,409,445   172,936      70,266        1,652,647     1,483,018   406,130     50,995        1,940,143    

At fair value through profit or 

loss - held for trading

Debt securities - privately

   placed sukuk certificates

----------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000)--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000)----------------------------------------------------

Dividend income on equity securities is recognised in the income statement when the right to receive the dividend is established.

2018 2017

Realised capital gains / losses arising on sale of investments are included in the income statement on the date at which the sale 

transaction takes place.

Return on Government securities, Sukuks, bank balances and term deposits are recognised at the rate of return implicit in the 

instrument on a time proportionate basis.

Profit rate on these accounts ranges between 3.75% to 6.2% (June 30, 2017: 3.75% to 5.8%) per annum.

2018 2017

----------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000)--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------(Rupees in '000)----------------------------------------------------

Unrealised gains / (losses) arising on re-measurement of investments classified as 'financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss' are included in the income statement in the year in which they arise.



5.1 Listed equity securities - at fair value through profit or loss

(Ordinary Shares of Rs. 10 each unless indicated otherwise)

Note

AUTOMOBILE ASSEMBLER

Honda Atlas Cars (Pakistan) Limited 42,600             -                 -               42,600        36,964          13,478        (23,486)             0.90                 0.96                   0.03                

Pak Suzuki Motor Company Limited 44,200             -                 44,050          150             117               59               (58)                    -                   -                     -                  

Millat Tractors Limited 15,000             -                 -               15,000        20,617          17,821        (2,796)               1.19                 1.26                   0.03                

Ghandhara Industries Limited 30,400             -                 30,400          -              -                -              -                    -                   -                     -                  

57,698          31,358        (26,340)             2.09                 2.22                   

CEMENT

Cherat Cement Company Limited 250,000           -                 16,500          233,500      41,745          22,703        (19,042)             1.52                 1.61                   0.13                

Lucky Cement Limited 124,800           -                 39,350          85,450        71,458          43,403        (28,055)             2.91                 3.08                   0.03                

D.G. Khan Cement Company Limited 5.1.1 270,700           -                 197,800        72,900        15,539          8,346          (7,193)               0.56                 0.59                   0.02                

Pioneer Cement Limited 376,900           -                 40,500          336,400      43,732          15,764        (27,968)             1.06                 1.12                   0.15                

Fauji Cement Company Limited 642,500           -                 349,500        293,000      12,022          6,695          (5,327)               0.45                 0.48                   0.02                

Kohat Cement Limited -                   117,000         -               117,000      24,348          14,399        (9,949)               0.96                 1.02                   0.08                

208,844        111,310      (97,534)             7.46                 7.90                   

FERTILIZER

Engro Corporation Limited 262,000           28,000           92,400          197,600      64,256          62,019        (2,237)               4.16                 4.40                   0.04                

Engro Fertilizers Limited 846,000           210,000         322,000        734,000      40,455          54,984        14,529              3.68                 3.90                   0.05                

104,711        117,003      12,292              7.84                 8.30                   

POWER GENERATION & DISTRIBUTION

Hub Power Company Limited 690,800           82,000           63,000          709,800      82,863          65,415        (17,448)             4.38                 4.64                   0.06                

K-Electric Limited (ordinary shares of Rs. 3.5/- each) 1,500,000        -                 100,000        1,400,000   9,660            7,952          (1,708)               0.53                 0.56                   0.01                

92,523          73,367        (19,156)             4.91                 5.20                   

OIL & GAS EXPLORATION COMPANIES

Oil and Gas Development Company Limited 377,700           63,000           37,100          403,600      57,039          62,808        5,769                4.21                 4.46                   0.01                

Pakistan Petroleum Limited 368,400           30,000           76,200          322,200      48,300          69,241        20,941              4.64                 4.91                   0.02                

Pakistan Oilfields Limited 43,200             -                 21,300          21,900        10,033          14,712        4,679                0.99                 1.04                   0.01                

Mari Petroleum Company Limited 48,050             5,000             1,000            52,050        81,838          78,397        (3,441)               5.25                 5.56                   0.05                

197,210        225,158      27,948              15.09               15.97                 

OIL & GAS MARKETING COMPANIES

Pakistan State Oil Company Limited 5.1.2 103,950           18,490           97,200          25,240        8,147            8,034          (113)                  0.54                 0.57                   0.01                

Attock Petroleum Limited 29,000             -                 9,350            19,650        12,309          11,593        (716)                  0.78                 0.82                   0.02                

20,456          19,627        (829)                  1.32                 1.39                   

PHARMACEUTICALS

The Searle Company Limited 5.1.2 59,910             3,422             42,800          20,532        8,760            6,971          (1,789)               0.47                 0.49                   0.01                

Highnoon Laboratories Limited 5.1.2 28,392             2,987             3,500            27,879        15,589          11,445        (4,144)               0.77                 0.81                   0.10                

24,349          18,416        (5,933)               1.24                 1.30                   

TEXTILE COMPOSITE

Nishat Mills Limited 452,200           -                 150,500        301,700      47,874          42,516        (5,358)               2.85                 3.02                   0.09                

47,874          42,516        (5,358)               2.85                 3.02                   

PAPER & BOARD

Century Paper and Board Mills Limited 171,500           121,100         -               292,600      27,553          18,580        (8,973)               1.25                 1.32                   0.20                

Packages Limited 85,450             -                 68,600          16,850        11,721          8,252          (3,469)               0.55                 0.59                   0.02                

39,274          26,832        (12,442)             1.80                 1.91                   

ENGINEERING

International Steels Limited 233,500           25,000           73,000          185,500      23,676          18,865        (4,811)               1.26                 1.34                   0.04                

Mughal Iron and Steel Industries Limited 182,000           -                 182,000        -              -                -              -                    -                   -                     -                  

Amreli Steels Limited 103,500           -                 15,000          88,500        10,881          6,244          (4,637)               0.42                 0.44                   0.03                

Ittefaq Iron industries Limited 5.1.3 1,112,000        150,000         110,000        1,152,000   34,626          16,105        (18,521)             1.08                 1.14                   0.88                

69,183          41,214        (27,969)             2.76                 2.92                   

GLASS & CERAMICS

Tariq Glass Industries Limited 531,000           -                 150,000        381,000      42,200          40,828        (1,372)               2.74                 2.90                   0.52                

42,200          40,828        (1,372)               2.74                 2.90                   

CHEMICAL

Sitara Chemical Industries Limited 62,800             -                 -               62,800        27,922          23,130        (4,792)               1.55                 1.64                   0.29                

I.C.I. Pakistan Limited 40,800             -                 -               40,800        44,658          32,701        (11,957)             2.19                 2.32                   0.04                

72,580          55,831        (16,749)             3.74                 3.96                   

AUTOMOBILE PARTS & ACCESSORIES

Thal Limited (ordinary shares of Rs. 5 each) 89,500             5,400             14,750          80,150        48,258          38,274        (9,984)               2.56                 2.72                   0.10                

48,258          38,274        (9,984)               2.56                 2.72                   

CABLE & ELECTRICAL GOODS

Pak Elektron Limited 267,500           82,000           349,500        -              -                -              -                    -                   -                     -                  

-                -              -                    -                   -                     

FOOD AND PERSONAL CARE 

Al-Shaheer Corporation Limited 340,500           30,000           -               370,500      14,857          10,096        (4,761)               0.68                 0.72                   0.26                

Shezan International Limited 35,300             -                 -               35,300        16,768          20,121        3,353                1.35                 1.43                   0.44                

31,625          30,217        (1,408)               2.03                 2.15                   

MISCELLANEOUS

Synthetic Products Enterprises Limited 484,500           -                 -               484,500      36,556          24,758        (11,798)             1.66                 1.76                   0.57                

36,556          24,758        (11,798)             1.66                 1.76                   

TECHNOLOGY & COMMUNICATION

Avanceon Limited 5.1.2 35,938             -                 -               35,938        1,628            2,381          753                   0.16                 0.17                   0.03                

1,628            2,381          753                   0.16                 0.17                   

COMMERCIAL BANKS

Meezan Bank Limited 414,500           25,000           -               439,500      34,621          35,916        1,295                2.41                 2.55                   0.04                

34,621          35,916        1,295                2.41                 2.55                   

Total Value as at June 30, 2018 1,129,590     935,006      (194,584)           

Total Value as at June 30 2017 1,372,119     1,483,018   110,899            

As at

June 30, 

2018

----------------------(Number of shares)--------------------- -------------------- (Rupees '000) ----------------------- ---------------------'(%) --------------------

Investment

as a 

percentage

of investees'

paid up

capital

Sector and Name of Security

As at

July 1,

2017

Purchased / 

bonus 

received 

during the 

year 

Sold

during the 

year 

Total

carrying 

value

as at

June 30, 

2018

Total

market 

value

as at

June 30, 

2018

Unrealized gain 

/ (loss) as at 

June 30, 2018

Market

value of

investment as 

a percentage 

of net assets

Market

value of

investment as a 

percentage of 

total investment



5.1.1

5.1.2

5.2 Letter of rights - At fair value through profit or loss - Held for trading

CHEMICAL

Engro Polymer & Chemicals 579,015         289,525        289,490      -                2,553          2,553                0.17                 0.18                   0.12                

COMMERCIAL BANKS

Meezan Bank Limited -                   26,370           26,370          -              -                -              -                    -                   -                     -                  

Total-June 30, 2018 -                        2,553                 2,553                         

Total-June 30, 2017 -                        -                     -                             

 Investment as a 

percentage of 

paid-up capital of 

investee 

company 

---------------------------------- Number of rights ---------------------------------------------------------------------- Rupees '000 ------------------------------------------------------------------------ Percentage ------------------------------------

Total carrying

value

as at

June 30,

2018

Total market

value

as at

June 30,

2018

Unrealised gain/ 

(loss) as at June 

30, 2018

 Market value

as a

percentage of

net assets 

 Market value

as a

percentage of

total value

of Investment 

Name of Security

As at

July 1,

2017

 Entitlements 

during the year 

Exercised 

during the year

As at

June 30,

2018

The above equity securities include 0.075 million shares (June 30, 2017: 0.12 million shares) pledged with National Clearing Company of 

Pakistan Limited having market value of Rs. 8.59 million (June 30, 2017: Rs. 25.57 million) for guaranteeing settlement of the Fund's 

trades in accordance with circular No. 11 dated October 23, 2007 issued by the SECP.

The Finance Act, 2014 has brought amendments in the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 whereby the bonus shares received by the 

shareholder are to be treated as income and a tax at the rate of 5 percent is to be applied on value of bonus shares determined on the 

basis of day end price on the first day of closure of books. The tax is to be collected at source by the company declaring bonus shares 

which shall be considered as final discharge of tax liability on such income. The Management Company of the Fund jointly with other 

asset management companies and Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan, has filed a petition in Honorable Sindh High Court to declare 

the amendments brought in Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 with reference to tax on bonus shares for collective investment schemes as 

null and void and not applicable on the mutual funds based on the premise of exemptions available to mutual funds under clause 99 of 

Part I and clause 47B of Part IV of Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. The Honorable Sindh High Court has granted 

stay order till the final outcome of the case. An investee company of the Fund, in pursuance of the aforesaid amendment, withheld 

shares equivalent to 5% of bonus entitlement of the Fund having fair market value of Rs. 1.82 million (2017: Rs. 1.8 million) at year end. 

Such shares have not been deposited by the investee company in CDC account of Income Tax department. The Fund has included in its 

investments the withheld shares and recorded them at fair market value at year end. However, through Finance Act, 2018, the tax on 

bonus shares is withdrawn.



5.3 Listed equity securities - Available for sale

(Ordinary Shares of Rs. 10 each unless indicated otherwise)

Note

AUTOMOBILE ASSEMBLER

Honda Atlas Cars (Pakistan) Limited -                   34,350           -               34,350        17,188          10,868        (6,320)               0.73                 0.77                   0.02

17,188          10,868        (6,320)               0.73                 0.77                   

CEMENT

Cherat Cement Company Limited -                   39,500           -               39,500        4,890            3,841          (1,049)               0.26                 0.27                   0.02

Lucky Cement Limited -                   1,500             -               1,500          821               762             (59)                    0.05                 0.05                   0.00

D.G. Khan Cement Company Limited -                   56,300           -               56,300        7,457            6,446          (1,011)               0.43                 0.46                   0.01

Pioneer Cement Limited -                   78,900           -               78,900        4,576            3,697          (879)                  0.25                 0.26                   0.03

Fauji Cement Company Limited -                   25,000           -               25,000        775               571             (204)                  0.04                 0.04                   0.00

Kohat Cement Limited -                   283,100         -               283,100      43,260          34,841        (8,419)               2.33                 2.47                   0.18

61,779          50,158        (11,621)             3.36                 3.55                   

FERTILIZER

Engro Corporation Limited -                   225,600         -               225,600      69,359          70,807        1,448                4.74                 5.02                   0.04

Fauji Fertilizer Company Limited -                   13,000           -               13,000        1,289            1,286          (3)                      0.09                 0.09                   0.00

Engro Fertilizers Limited -                   143,000         -               143,000      9,224            10,712        1,488                0.72                 0.76                   0.01

79,872          82,805        2,933                5.55                 5.87                   

POWER GENERATION & DISTRIBUTION

Hub Power Company Limited -                   413,500         -               413,500      41,420          38,108        (3,312)               2.55                 2.70                   0.04

K-Electric Limited (ordinary shares of Rs. 3.5/- each) -                   1,000,000      -               1,000,000   6,313            5,680          (633)                  0.38                 0.40                   0.00

47,733          43,788        (3,945)               2.93                 3.10                   

OIL & GAS EXPLORATION COMPANIES

Oil and Gas Development Company Limited -                   160,000         -               160,000      25,900          24,899        (1,001)               1.67                 1.77                   0.00

Pakistan Oilfields Limited -                   79,200           17,000          62,200        35,702          41,785        6,083                2.80                 2.96                   0.03

Mari Petroleum Company Limited -                   6,100             -               6,100          8,935            9,188          253                   0.62                 0.65                   0.01

Pakistan Petroleum Limited -                   85,000           -               85,000        17,176          18,268        1,092                1.22                 1.30                   0.00

87,713          94,140        6,427                6.31                 6.68                   

OIL & GAS MARKETING COMPANIES

Pakistan State Oil Company Limited 5.1.2 -                   94,200           -               94,200        28,519          29,985        1,466                2.01                 2.13                   0.03

28,519          29,985        1,466                2.01                 2.13                   

TEXTILE COMPOSITE

Kohinoor Textile Mills Limited -                   275,000         -               275,000      17,366          15,122        (2,244)               1.01                 1.07                   0.09

Nishat Mills Limited -                   71,000           -               71,000        10,873          10,005        (868)                  0.67                 0.71                   0.02

28,239          25,127        (3,112)               1.68                 1.78                   

ENGINEERING

Amreli Steels Limited -                   96,000           21,000          75,000        6,969            5,291          (1,678)               0.35                 0.38                   0.03

International Steels Limited -                   60,000           -               60,000        7,301            6,102          (1,199)               0.41                 0.43                   0.01

Ittefaq Iron industries Limited -                   56,500           -               56,500        1,298            790             (508)                  0.05                 0.06                   0.04

15,568          12,183        (3,385)               0.81                 0.87                   

CHEMICAL

Engro Polymer and Chemicals Limited -                   992,500         210,000        782,500      26,870          24,539        (2,331)               1.64                 1.74                   0.12

Sitara Chemical Industries Limited -                   23,000           -               23,000        7,288            8,471          1,183                0.57                 0.60                   0.11

34,158          33,010        (1,148)               2.21                 2.34                   

AUTOMOBILE PARTS & ACCESSORIES

General Tyre and Rubber Co. of Pakistan Limited -                   105,000         15,500          89,500        17,242          14,875        (2,367)               1.00                 1.06                   0.15

Millat Tractors Limited -                   2,000             -               2,000          2,563            2,376          (187)                  0.16                 0.17                   0.00

19,805          17,251        (2,554)               1.16                 1.23                   

FOOD AND PERSONAL CARE 

Al-Shaheer Corporation Limited -                   202,000         -               202,000      5,725            5,505          (220)                  0.37                 0.39                   0.14

Shezan International Limited -                   43,600           -               43,600        20,339          24,852        4,513                1.67                 1.76                   0.55

-                   26,064          30,357        4,293                2.04                 2.15                   

LEATHER & TANNERIES

Service Industries Limited -                   16,640           -               16,640        14,969          13,062        (1,907)               0.88                 0.93                   0.14

14,969          13,062        (1,907)               0.88                 0.93                   

REFINERY

National Refinery Limited -                   15,900           15,000          900             400               399             (1)                      0.03                 0.03                   0.00

400               399             (1)                      0.03                 0.03                   

TECHNOLOGY & COMMUNICATION

Systems Limited -                   210,000         -               210,000      18,364          21,255        2,891                1.42                 1.51                   0.19

18,364          21,255        2,891                1.42                 1.51                   

COMMERCIAL BANKS

Meezan Bank Limited -                   26,370           -               26,370        1,319            2,155          836                   0.14                 0.15                   0.00

1,319            2,155          836                   0.14                 0.15                   

MISCELLANEOUS

Tri-Pack Films Limited -                   39,000           -               39,000        5,675            5,343          (332)                  0.36                 0.38                   0.10

5,675            5,343          (332)                  0.36                 0.38                   

Total Value as at June 30, 2018 487,365        471,886      (15,479)             

Total Value as at June 30 2017 -                -              -                    

----------------------(Number of shares)--------------------- -------------------- (Rupees '000) ----------------------------------------------------------------------- '(%) ---------------------------------------------

Total

cost

as at

June 30, 

2018

Total

market 

value

as at

June 30, 

2018

Unrealized gain 

/ (loss) as at 

June 30, 2018

Market

value of

investment as 

a percentage 

of net assets

Market

value of

investment as a 

percentage of 

total investment

Investment

as a 

percentage

of investees'

paid up

capital

Sector and Name of Security

As at

July 1,

2017

Purchased / 

bonus 

received 

during the 

year 

Sold

during the 

year 

As at

June 30, 

2018



2018 2017

Note

5.3.1 Net unrealised gain / (loss) on re-measurement of

investments classified as available for sale

Market value of investments 5.2 471,886                 -   

Less: cost of investments 5.2 (487,365)                -   

Unrealised loss on re-measurement of investments classified as available for sale - net (15,479)                  -   

Impairment loss on equity securities classified as available for sale 5.2.2 9,760                     -   

(5,719)                    -   

5.3.2 Movement in provision for impairment loss against available for sale equity secuities

Opening balance -                         -   

Add: charge for the year 9,760                     -   

Less: reversal of provision due to recovery -                         -   

9,760                     -   

5.4 Government securities - Ijarah Sukuk Certificates

At fair value through profit and loss 

The details of investment in Ijarah Sukuk Certificates of Rs. 100,000 each are as follows:

Market

value as a

percentage of

Total Investment

of the

Sub Fund

Government securities - 

held by Debt Sub-Fund

Ijarah Sukuk XVI 5.4.1 900                    665               -                                 1,565                          158,783                      157,094                    (1,689)                         90.84                            24.61

Ijarah Sukuk XVII 5.4.1 1,700                 55                 1,700                         55                               5,530                          5,524                        (6)                                3.19                              0.87

Ijarah Sukuk XIX 5.4.1 1,250                 -                   1,250                         -                                  -                              -                            -                              -                                0.00

Total as at June 30, 2018 164,313                      162,618                    (1,695)                         94.03                            25.47

Total as at June 30, 2017 388,661                      392,609                    3,948                          

Government securities - 

held by Money Market Sub-Fund

Ijarah Sukuk XVI 5.4.1 500                    200               -                                 700                             71,055                        70,266                      (789)                            100.00                          16.16

Total as at June 30, 2018 71,055                        70,266                      (789)                            100.00 16.16

Total as at June 30, 2017 50,395                        50,995                      600                             

5.4.1

5.5 Debt securities - Privately placed sukuk certificates - at fair value through profit and loss - held for trading

The details of investment in Sukuk certificates of Rs 5,000 each unless indicated otherwise are as follows:

Held by Debt Sub-Fund

5.5.1 1,500         -                     -               1,500                         3,933                          3,917                          (16)                            0.61                            2.27 0.15

5.5.1 -            2,400                 2,400            -                             -                              -                              -                            -                              -                                -                              

5.5.1 1,800         -                     -               1,800                         6,583                          6,401                          (182)                          1.00                            3.70 0.02                            

Total As at June 30, 2018 10,516                        10,318                        (198)                          1.62                            5.97                              

Total As at June 30, 2017
13,388                        13,521                        133                           

Market

value as a

percentage of

Total Investment

of the

Sub Fund

Dawood Hercules Corporation 

Limited

Fatima Fertilizer (Certificates of

  Rs 3,500 each)

Wapda (Certificates of

  Rs 2,500 each)

------------------------------------------------ (%) -------------------------------------------------------------------------Number of certificates------------------------ --------------------------------------(Rs in 000)--------------------------------------

Market

value as a

percentage

of issued

amount of

security

Closing balance

----------(Rs. in '000)----------

As at

June 30, 2018

These carry profit at the rate of 6.1% to 6.33% (June 30, 2017 : 5.24% to 6.10%)  per annum receivable semi-annually in arrears, 

maturing in February 2019.

----------------------------%---------------------------

Particulars Note

As at

July 1,

2017

Purchased

during the

Year 

Sold/

matured

during the

year 

Cost

as at

June 30, 2018

Market

value

as at

June 30, 2018

Unrealized

gain / (loss)

as at

June 30, 2018

Percentage in relation to

Market value as a 

percentage of net 

assets of the Sub 

Fund

------------------------------------Number of certificates-------------------------------- ----------------------------------(Rs in "000')----------------------------------

Percentage in relation to

Paticulars  Note 

 As at

July 1,

2017 

 Purchased

during the

year  

 Sold /

matured

during the

year  

 As at 

June 30, 2018 

 Cost

as at

June 30, 2018 

 Market 

value

as at

June 30, 2018 

 Unrealized

(loss) / gain

as at

June 30, 2018 

Market

value as a

percentage

of net assets

of the

Sub Fund



5.5.1

6. DIVIDEND AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Dividend receivable 4,495            -                -               4,495          4,285           -               -               4,285          

Profit receivable on bank balances and 
    Term Deposit Receipts 677               3,746            2,924           7,347          846              800              1,557           3,203          

Profit receivable on investments -                637               158              795             -              4,160           82                4,242          

Receivable against main collection account 

    against issuance of units 9,190            11,605          15,280         36,075        30,197         10,293         7,684           48,174        

Security deposit with the Central Depository
    Company Limited 100               100               100              300             100              100              100              300             

NCCPL deposit 2,500            -                -               2,500          2,500           -               -               2,500          

Receivable against sale of investment 3,691            -                -               3,691          -              -               -               -              

Other receivables 4,493            6                   1                  4,500          4,493           -               -               4,493          

25,146          16,094          18,463         59,703        42,421         15,353         9,423           67,197        

7. ADVANCE TAX

8. PAYABLE TO UBL FUNDS MANAGERS LIMITED - PENSION FUND MANAGER

Note

Remuneration fee (including

Sindh Sales Tax there against)             2,140                867                550 3,557          3,250           1,047           430              4,727          

Sales load and conversion charges                301                145                231 677             -              -               -               -              

Other payable                   -                      5                    5 10               -              -               -               -              

2,441            1,017            786              4,244          3,250           1,047           430              4,727          

8.1

 Total 
 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

As per the provisions of the Voluntary Pension System Rules, 2005, the Pension Fund Manager, is allowed to charge an annual 

management fee of 1.5% of the average of the values of the net assets of each of the Sub-Funds. Accordingly, the management fee 

has been accrued at 1.5% per annum of the average daily net assets of the Sub-Funds. The amount of remuneration is being paid 

monthly in arrears.

These are short term investments and carry a coupon rate of 7.49% to 7.66% (June 30, 2017: 7.06% to 7.25%) and will mature by 

November 2021.

2018 2017

 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 
 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 

-------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------ -------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------

The income of the Fund is exempt from tax under clause 57(3)(viii) of the Second Schedule of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (ITO 

2001). Further, the Fund is exempt under clause 47(B) of Part IV of Second Schedule of ITO 2001 from withholding of tax under 

section 150, 150A, 151 and 233 of ITO 2001. The Federal Board of Revenue (FBR), through a circular “C.No.1 (43) DG (WHT)/ 2008-

Vol.II- 66417-R” dated May 12, 2015, made it mandatory to obtain exemption certificates under section 159 (1) of the ITO 2001 from 

Commissioner Inland Revenue (CIR). During the financial year ended June 30, 2016, prior to receiving tax exemption certificate(s) 

from CIR various withholding agents had deducted advance tax under section 150, 150A and 151 of ITO 2001. The Pension Fund 

Manager is confident that the same shall be refunded.

2018 2017

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 

-------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------ -------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------

8.1 & 

8.2

 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 



8.2

9. PAYABLE TO CENTRAL DEPOSITORY COMPANY OF PAKISTAN LIMITED - TRUSTEE

 Tariff per annum

Up to Rs. 1,000 million  Rs. 0.3 million or 0.15% p.a of NAV, whichever is higher

Exceeding Rs. 1,000 million up to Rs. 3,000 million  Rs. 1.5 million plus 0.10% p.a of NAV exceeding Rs. 1,000 million

Exceeding Rs. 3,000 million up to Rs. 6,000 million  Rs. 3.5 million plus 0.08% p.a of NAV exceeding Rs, 3,000 million

Exceeding Rs. 6,000 million  Rs. 5.9 million plus 0.06% p.a of NAV exceeding Rs. 6,000 million

9.1

10. PAYABLE TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN 

11. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Note

Auditors' remuneration payable 60              60              60              180           58             58             58             174           

Brokerage and other payable 2,284         842            4,280         7,406        6,054        1,304        528           7,886        

Provision for indirect taxes and duties 11.1 5,019         2,481         1,340         8,840        5,019        2,481        1,340        8,840        

Provision for Sindh Workers' 

     Welfare Fund 11.2 13,389       727            353            14,469      13,389      727           353           14,469      

20,752       4,110         6,033         30,895      24,520      4,570        2,279        31,369      

11.1 As per the requirements of the Finance Act 2013, Federal Excise Duty (FED) at the rate of 16% on the remuneration of the 

Management Company was applied with effect from June 13, 2013. The Management Company is of the view that since the 

remuneration is already subject to the provincial sales tax, further levy of FED results in double taxation, which does not appear to be 

the spirit of the law. The matter was collectively taken up by the Management Company jointly with other Asset Management 

Companies and Trustees of respective Collective Investment Schemes (CISs), through a Constitutional Petition filed in the Honorable 

Sindh High Court (SHC) during September 2013. In this respect, the SHC had issued a stay order against the recovery of FED due to 

which the Fund has not made any payments for FED since June 13, 2013.

2018 2017

 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 
 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 

The Provincial Government of Sindh has levied Sindh Sales Tax at the rate of 13% (June 30, 2017: 13%) on the remuneration of the 

Pension Fund Manager through the Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act, 2011.

-------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------ ------------------ (Rupees in '000) ---------------------

Through Finance Act, 2016, FED on services rendered by Non-Banking Financial Institutions (NBFIs) including Asset Management 

Companies, which are already subject to provincial sales tax, has been withdrawn. Therefore, no provision for FED has been recorded 

after June 30, 2016.

The Trustee is entitled to remuneration of 0.15% per annum of the net assets value of the Fund, where the net assets are upto Rs. 1 

billion. The rates applicable for Trustee's remuneration on net assets exceeding Rs. 1 billion are as follows:

Net assets

The Sindh Revenue Board through Circular No. SRB-3-4/TP/01/2015/86554 dated June 13, 2015, amended the definition of services 

of shares, securities and derivatives and included the custodianship services within the purview of the Sindh Sales Tax. Accordingly 

Sindh Sales Tax of 13 % (June 30, 2017: 13%) is applicable on Trustee fee which is now covered under section 2(79A) of the Sindh 

Sales Tax on Services Act, 2011.

This represents annual fee payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) in accordance with rule 36 of the 

Voluntary Pension Rules, 2005 whereby the Fund is required to pay SECP an amount equal to one thirtieth of 1% of the average 

annual net asset value of each of the Sub-funds.



11.2 PROVISION FOR SINDH WORKERS' WELFARE FUND

12. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

13. NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE

 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

Debt

 Sub-Fund

Money

Market  Sub-

Fund

Total
Equity

 Sub-Fund

Debt

 Sub-Fund

Money

Market

 Sub-Fund

Total

Total units outstanding at the 

beginning of the year 2,333,120    3,028,072    1,828,383   7,189,575  2,131,790   2,656,498   1,290,015   6,078,303  

Units issued during the year 1,179,423    3,339,461    2,930,801   7,449,685  779,022      1,688,286   1,557,981   4,025,289  

Effect of reallocation (45,360)        152,896       54,723        162,259     (37,764)      (147,902)     291,416      105,750     

Units redeemed during the year (1,106,334)   (2,620,698)   (2,063,816)  (5,790,848) (539,928)    (1,168,810)  (1,311,029)  (3,019,767) 

Total units in issue at the end 

of the year

The amendments introduced in the WWF Ordinance were challenged in various High Courts of Pakistan and ultimately in the 

Supreme Court of Pakistan. On 10 November 2016, the SCP passed a judgment declaring the insertion of amendments introduced 

through Finance Act, 2008 pertaining to WWF as unlawful for the reason that the WWF is not in the nature of tax and therefore, could 

not be introduced through money bill under the Constitution. Subsequently, the Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) has filed a review 

petition in the SCP against the said judgment, which is pending adjudication.

Had the provision not been made, it would have resulted in an increase in the net assets value per unit by Rs. 5.67, Rs. 3.43 and Rs. 

4.87 (30 June 2017: Rs. 5.74, Rs. 4.42 and Rs. 7.32) of Equity sub fund, Debt sub fund and Money Market sub fund, respectively.

There were no contingencies and commitments outstanding as at June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2017.

2018 2017

2,360,849    3,899,731    2,750,091   9,010,671  2,333,120   3,028,072   1,828,383   7,189,575  

The Finance Act, 2008 introduced an amendment to the Workers' Welfare Fund Ordinance, 1971 (WWF Ordinance) as a result of 

which it was construed that all Collective Investment Schemes / Mutual Funds (CISs) whose income exceeded Rs. 500,000 in a tax 

year were brought within the scope of the WWF Ordinance, thus rendering them liable to pay contribution to WWF at the rate of two 

percent of their accounting or taxable income, whichever was higher.

Further, as a consequence of the 18th amendment to the Constitution, levy for the WWF was also introduced by the Government of 

Sindh through the Sindh Workers Welfare Fund (SWWF) Act 2014. SWWF Act 2014, enacted on 21 May 2015, requires every 

Industrial Establishment located in the province of Sindh and having total income of Rs. 500,000 or more in any year of account 

commencing on or after the date of closing of account on or after 31 December 2013, to pay two percent of so much of its total 

income declared to SWWF. The said Act includes any concern engaged in the Banking or Financial Institution in the definition of 

“Industrial Undertaking” but does not define Financial Institution. The Management Company, based on an opinion obtained by the 

Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP), believes that Mutual Funds are not liable to pay Sindh WWF under the said law, for 

the reason that the Mutual Funds are not financial institutions and rather an investment vehicle. However, the Sindh Revenue Board 

has not accepted the said position of MUFAP and as a result, MUFAP has taken up this matter with the Sindh Finance Ministry for 

resolution.

In view of the above developments regarding the applicability of Federal and Sindh WWF on Mutual Funds, the MUFAP obtained a 

legal opinion on these matters during financial year ended June 30, 2017. Based on such legal advice (which also stated that even if a 

review petition is filed by any party, such petition can only be based on very limited grounds and the chances of any major change in 

the SCP judgement are very limited), MUFAP has recommended to all its members to reverse the Federal WWF and start recording 

of Sindh WWF. Consequently, the Equity sub-fund, Debt sub-fund and Money Market sub-fund has recorded of provision of Rs. Nil 

(June 2017: Rs. 8.01 million, Rs. 0.42 million and Rs. 0.22 million) for the year and Rs. 13.389 million, Rs. 0.727 million and Rs. 0.353 

million (June 2017: Rs. 13.389 million, Rs. 0.727 million and Rs. 0.353 million), respectively, in aggregate in respect of SWWF.

On June 30, 2016, the Honorable Sindh High Court of Pakistan had passed a Judgment that after the 18th amendment in the 

Constitution of Pakistan, the Provinces alone have the legislative power to levy a tax on rendering or providing services, therefore, 

chargeability and collection of FED after July 01, 2011 is ultra vires to the Constitution of Pakistan. On September 23, 2016, the 

Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) filed an appeal in the Honorable Supreme Court of Pakistan (SCP) against above judgement, which 

is pending adjudication.  Pending the adjudication in the SCP, the Management Company, as a matter of abundant caution, has 

maintained full provision for FED aggregating to Rs. 5.019 million (2017: Rs. 5.019 million), Rs. 2.481 million (2017: Rs. 2.481 million) 

and Rs. 1.34 million (2017: Rs. 1.34 million) for Equity sub-fund, Debt sub-fund and Money Market sub-fund respectively. Had the 

provision not been made, the net asset value per unit of Equity sub-fund, Debt sub-fund and Money Market sub-fund as at June 30, 

2018 would have been higher by Rs. 2.13, Rs. 1.29 and Rs. 1.83 (June 30, 2017: Rs. 2.15, Rs. 1.66 and Rs. 2.75) respectively.



14. CONTRIBUTION TABLE

Contribution (net of front end fee) received during the year.

From: Units
Rupees

(000)
Units Units

Rupees

(000)
Units

Rupees

(000)

Individuals 1,179,423     773,984        3,339,461    535,870      2,930,801    455,873       7,449,685    1,765,727   

From:
Units

Rupees

(000)
Units Units

Rupees

(000)
Units

Rupees

(000)

Individuals 779,022        541,696        1,688,286    263,050      1,557,981    233,865       4,025,289    1,038,611   

15. FINANCIAL INCOME 

Profit on Government of Pakistan -

   Ijarah Sukuk -               11,823         2,931          14,754       -             13,663        2,726          16,389       

Profit on Privately Placed Sukuks -               956             -              956            -             1,357          212             1,569         

Profit on bank balances 5,709           14,901         8,135          28,745       3,696          2,694          3,998          10,388       

Profit on Term Deposit Receipts -               4,605           7,389          11,994       -             6,082          5,730          11,812       

5,709           32,285         18,455        56,449       3,696          23,796        12,666        40,158       

16. AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

Annual Audit fee 56 56 56 168 54 54 54 162

Half yearly review fee 34 34 34 102 33 33 33 99

Out of pocket expenses 9 9 9 27 17 17 17 51

99                99               99               297            104            104             104             312            

17. TAXATION

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 

-------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------ -------------------- (Rupees in '000) -----------------------

The income of the Fund is exempt from income tax under clause 57(3) (viii) of part I of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax 

Ordinance, 2001. Therefore, no provision has been made for current and deferred taxation in these financial statements.

The Fund is also exempt from the provisions of section 113 (minimum tax) under clause 11A of Part IV to the Second Schedule of the 

Income Tax Ordinance, 2001. Accordingly, Super tax and any other taxes introduced in Finance Act, 2015 are also not applicable on 

Fund. 

-------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------ ------------------ (Rupees in '000) ---------------------

2018 2017

 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 
 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

2018 2017

 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 
 Equity

 Sub-Fund 

 Debt

 Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 

2017

 Equity Sub Fund  Debt Sub-Fund  Money Market Sub-Fund  Total 

Rupees

(000)

2018

 Equity

Sub Fund 

 Debt

Sub Fund 

 Money Market

Sub Fund 
 Total 

Rupees

(000)



18 TRANSACTIONS WITH CONNECTED PERSONS / RELATED PARTIES

18.1

18.2

18.3

18.4

Equity Sub Fund

Transactions during the year

Profit on PLS accounts -                  3,015               -              -                  -                  -                

Bank charges -                  41                    -              -                  -                  -                

Units issued -                  -                   -              -                  11,468            -                

Units redeemed -                  -                   -              -                  4,851              -                

Remuneration including Sindh Sales Tax 25,397            -                   2,046          -                  -                  -                

CDS expense -                  -                   65               -                  -                  -                

Balances held

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  28                   -                

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  17,699            -                

Bank balances -                  11,212             -              -                  -                  -                

Deposits -                  -                   100             -                  -                  -                

Profit receivable -                  146                  -              -                  -                  -                

Remuneration fee (including

Sindh Sales Tax there against) 2,140              -                   170             -                  -                  -                

Sales load and conversion charges payable 301                 142                  -              -                  -                  -                

Equity Sub Fund

Transactions during the year

Profit on PLS accounts -                  3,687               -              -                  -                  -                
Bank charges -                  20                    -              -                  -                  -                
Units issued -                  -                   -              -                  1,746              -                
Units redeemed -                  181,341           -              -                  963                 -                
Remuneration including Sindh Sales Tax 24,502            -                   613             -                  -                  -                
CDS expense -                  -                   178             -                  -                  -                

Balances held

-                  -                   -              -                  9                     -                

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  6,620              -                

Bank balances -                  138,931           -              -                  -                  -                

Deposits -                  -                   100             -                  -                  -                

Remuneration fee (including

Sindh Sales Tax there against) 2,364              -                   188             -                  -                  -                

Sales load and conversion charges payable 886                 256                  -              -                  -                  -                

Profit receivable -                  819                  -              -                  -                  -                

Other 

connected 

persons***

----------------------------------------------------------------- 2017 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------- (Units in '000)  ------------------------------------------------------------

Units held

------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------------  2018  --------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------- (Units in '000)  -----------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------

Particulars
Pension Fund 

Manager

  Associated 

Companies and 

others* 

 Trustee  

 Funds under 

Common 

Management  

 Directors and 

Key 

Executives** 

Remuneration of the Pension Fund Manager and trustee is determined in accordance with the provisions of VPS Rules, and the 

Trust Deed.

Connected persons / related parties comprise of United Bank Limited (holding Company of Pension Fund Manager), UBL Fund 

Managers Limited (Pension Fund Manager), Al - Ameen Financial Services (Private) Limited (subsidary of Pension Fund Manager), 

collective investment schemes managed by the Pension Fund Manager, directors and officers of the Pension Fund Manager, entities 

under common management or directorships, and Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited (Trustee).

Other transactions with the related parties / connected persons are carried out at agreed / commercial terms. 

Details of transaction with related parties / connected persons carried out during the year, and balances with them at the year end 

are as follows: 

Particulars
Pension Fund 

Manager

  Associated 

Companies 

and others* 

 Trustee  

 Funds under 

Common 

Management  

 Directors and 

Key 

Executives** 

Other 

connected 

persons***



Debt Sub Fund

Transactions during the year

Profit on PLS accounts -                  4,150               -              -                  -                  -                

Bank charges -                  51                    -              -                  -                  -                

Units issued -                  -                   -              -                  3,427              -                

Units redeemed -                  -                   -              -                  449                 -                

Remuneration including Sindh Sales Tax 9,596              -                   774             -                  -                  -                

CDS expense -                  -                   7                 -                  -                  -                

Balances held

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  54                   -                

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  8,841              -                

Bank balances -                  100,605           -              -                  -                  -                

Deposits -                  -                   100             -                  -                  -                

Profit receivable -                  457                  -              -                  -                  -                

Remuneration fee (including 867                 -                   70               -                  -                  -                

Sindh Sales Tax there against)

Sales load and conversion charges payable 145                 79                    -              -                  -                  -                

Other payable 5                     

Debt Sub Fund

Transactions during the year

Profit on PLS accounts -                  1,645               -              -                  -                  -                

Bank charges -                  31                    -              -                  -                  -                

Units issued -                  -                   -              -                  1,191              -                

Units redeemed -                  46,095             -              -                  872                 -                

Remuneration including Sindh Sales Tax 7,420              -                   613             -                  -                  -                

CDS expense -                  -                   5                 -                  -                  -                

Balances held

-                  -                   -              -                  34                   -                

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  5,416              -                

Bank balances -                  830                  -              -                  -                  -                

Deposits -                  -                   100             -                  -                  -                

Remuneration fee (including 694                 -                   56               -                  -                  -                

Sindh Sales Tax there against)

Sales load and conversion charges payable 353                 99                    -              -                  -                  -                

Profit receivable -                  289                  -              -                  -                  -                

--------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------------------------------

 Directors and 

Key 

Executives** 

Other 

connected 

persons***

----------------------------------------------------------------- 2017 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------- (Units in '000)  --------------------------------------------------------------

Units held

Other 

connected 

persons***

------------------------------------------------------------  2018  --------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------

---------------------------------------------- (Units in '000)  -------------------------------------------------------------

------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------------

Particulars
Pension Fund 

Manager

  Associated 

Companies and 

others* 

 Trustee  

 Funds under 

Common 

Management  

Particulars
Pension Fund 

Manager

  Associated 

Companies 

and others* 

 Trustee  

 Funds under 

Common 

Management  

 Directors and 

Key 

Executives** 



Money Market Sub Fund

Transactions during the year

Profit on PLS accounts -                  2,715               -              -                  -                  -                

Bank charges -                  53                    -              -                  -                  -                

Units issued -                  -                   -              -                  1,411              -                

Units redeemed -                  -                   -              -                  200                 -                

Remuneration including Sindh Sales Tax 5,690              -                   459             -                  -                  -                

Balances held

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  20                   -                

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  3,162              -                

Bank balances -                  83,644             -              -                  -                  -                

Deposits -                  -                   100             -                  -                  -                

Profit receivable -                  361                  -              -                  -                  -                

Remuneration fee (including 550                 -                   44               -                  -                  -                

Sindh Sales Tax there against)

Sales load and conversion charges payable 231                 15                    -              -                  -                  -                

Other payable 5                     

Money Market Sub Fund

Transactions during the year

Profit on PLS accounts -                  1,958               -              -                  -                  -                

Bank charges -                  32                    -              -                  -                  -                

Units issued -                  -                   -              -                  1,047              -                

Units redeemed -                  44,502             -              -                  727                 -                

Remuneration including Sindh Sales Tax 3,872              -                   319             -                  -                  -                

Balances held

-                  -                   -              -                  12                   273               

Units held -                  -                   -              -                  1,836              41,769          

Bank balances -                  52,946             -              -                  -                  -                

Deposits -                  -                   100             -                  -                  -                

Remuneration fee (including 376                 -                   30               -                  -                  -                

Sindh Sales Tax there against)

Sales load and conversion charges payable 54                   10                    -              -                  -                  -                

Profit receivable -                  409                  -              -                  -                  -                

*** This represents the person having 10% or more holding in each year.

Other 

connected 

persons***

----------------------------------------------------------------- 2017 ------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------------- (Units in '000)  -------------------------------------------------------------

Units held

----------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------------------------

* This represents parent (including the related subsidiaries of the parent) of the Pension Fund Manager, associated companies    

   / undertakings of the Pension Fund Manager, its parents and the related subsidiaries.

** These include transactions and balance in relation to those directors and key executives that existed as at year end. However, it 

does not include the transactions and balances whereby director and key executives have resigned from the Pension Fund Manager 

during the year.

------------------------------------------------------------  2018  --------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------- (Units in '000)  -------------------------------------------------------

---------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------------------------

Particulars
Pension Fund 

Manager

  Associated 

Companies and 

others* 

 Trustee  

 Funds under 

Common 

Management  

 Directors and 

Key 

Executives** 

Particulars
Pension Fund 

Manager

  Associated 

Companies 

and others* 

 Trustee  

 Funds under 

Common 

Management  

 Directors and 

Key 

Executives** 

Other 

connected 

persons***



19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Financial assets

Bank balances 81,042        454,539    280,788    816,369       

Term Deposit Receipts -             -            72,000      72,000         

Investments - net 1,409,445   172,936    70,266      1,652,647    

Dividend and profit

receivable 25,146        16,094      18,463      59,703         

643,569       441,517       2,600,719        

Financial assets

Bank balances 218,725      66,425      222,003    507,153       

Investments - net 1,483,018   406,130    50,995      1,940,143    

Dividend and profit

receivable 42,421        15,353      9,423        67,197         

487,908    282,421    2,514,493    -               231,426        50,995       -             261,146          1,483,018       -              1,744,164    81,778           406,130           

42,421            -                  -              15,353           -                   -               9,423            -             -             

-                  1,483,018       -              -                 406,130           -               -                50,995       -             

218,725          -                  -              66,425           -                   -               

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Particulars 

Loans

and

receivables

At fair value

through

profit or loss

Available

for

sale

Total

Loans

and

receivables

222,003        -             -             

2017

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

TotalAt fair value

through

profit or loss

Available

for

sale

Total

Loans

and

receivables

At fair value

through

profit or loss

Available

for

sale

Total

18,463          -             -             

106,188          937,559          471,886      1,515,633    470,633         172,936           -               

25,146            -                  -              16,094           -                   -               

371,251        70,266       -             

-                  937,559          471,886      -                 172,936           -               -                70,266       -             

-                  -                  -              -                 -                   -               72,000          -             -             

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

81,042            -                  -              454,539         -                   -               280,788        

Loans

and

receivables

At fair value

through

profit or

loss

Available

for

sale

Total

Loans

and

receivables

At fair 

value

through

profit or 

loss

-             -             

2018

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

Total
Particulars 

Loans

and

receivables

At fair value

through

profit or loss

Available

for

sale

Total

Available

for

sale

Total



Financial liabilities

Payable to UBL Fund 

  Manager Limited - 

  Pension Fund Manager 2,441          1,017        786                       4,244 

Payable to the Central

  Depository Company of 

Pakistan Limited - Trustee 170             70             44                            284 

Accrued expenses and 

 other liabilities 2,344          902           4,340                    7,586 

Net assets attributable to 

redeemable units 1,492,286   638,457    434,735         2,565,478 

1,497,241   640,446    439,905    2,577,592    

Financial liabilities

Payable to UBL Fund

  Manager Limited - 

  Pension Fund Manager 3,250          1,047        430                       4,727 

Payable to the Central

  Depository Company of 

Pakistan Limited - Trustee 188             56             30                            274 

Accrued expenses and 

 other liabilities 6,112          1,362        586                       8,060 

Net assets attributable to 

redeemable units 1,716,239   482,324    279,738         2,478,301 

1,725,789   484,789    280,784    2,491,362    -                                1,725,789               -                                 484,789                  -                           280,784                

-                                6,112                      -                                 1,362                      -                           586                       

Total

2017

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

Total

-                 188                         -                                 56                           -                           30                         

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-                                3,250                      -                                 1,047                      -                           430                       

Particulars 

At fair value

through

profit or

loss

Other financial 

liabilities
Total

At fair value

through

profit or

loss

-                                1,497,241               -                                 640,446                  

Other financial 

liabilities

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-                                2,441                      -                                 1,017                      -                           

-                           439,905                

-                                2,344                      -                                 902                         -                           4,340                    

786                       

-                 170                         -                                 70                           -                           44                         

-                                1,492,286               -                                 

Particulars 

At fair value

through

profit or

loss

Other financial 

liabilities
Total

At fair value

through

profit or

loss

Other financial 

liabilities

At fair value

through

profit or

loss

Other financial 

liabilities

2018

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

Total
Total Total

638,457                  -                           434,735                

-                                1,716,239               -                                 482,324                  -                           279,738                

Total 

At fair value

through

profit or

loss

Other financial 

liabilities



20. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

20.1 Market risk

20.1.1 Currency risk

20.1.2 Interest rate risk

a)

b) Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

Change in basis points

100 (1,729)        (703)           (2,432)        (2,783)        (500)           (3,283)        

(100) 1,729         703            2,432         2,783         500            3,283         

For the year, income would have increased / (decreased) by Rs. 0.720 million (2017: Rs.Nil) of Money Market sub-fund,  had 

the interest rates on term deposit with bank increased / (decreased) by 100 basis points. 

---------------(Rupees in '000)-------------- ---------------(Rupees in '000)--------------

2018 2017

The composition of the Fund's investment portfolio, KIBOR rates and rates announced by the Financial Market Association are 

expected to change over time. Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis prepared as of June 30, 2018 is not necessarily indicative 

of the impact on the Fund's net assets of future movements in interest rates.

 Debt

Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 
 Debt

Sub-Fund 

 Money

Market

 Sub-Fund 

 Total 

The Fund’s objective in managing risks is the creation and protection of participants' value. Risk is inherent in the Fund’s activities, 

but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. 

The process of risk management is critical to the Fund’s continuing profitability.

Monitoring and controlling risks are primarily set up to be performed based on the limits established by the internal controls set on 

different activities of the Fund by the Board of Directors. These controls and limits reflect the business strategy and market 

environment of the Fund as well as the level of the risk that the Fund is willing to accept. In addition, the Fund monitors and 

measures the overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks type and activities.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes

in foreign exchange rates. The Fund has no financial instruments as at the balance sheet date which exposes it to currency risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 

market interest rates. 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates and credit

spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) will effect the Fund’s income or the fair value of its

financial instruments. Market risk comprises of three types of risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

Sensitivity analysis for fixed rate 

As at June 30, 2018, the Fund does not hold any fixed rate instruments that could expose the Fund to fair value interest rate 

risk.

Presently the Debt Sub-Fund and Money Market Sub-Fund hold KIBOR based profit bearing Sukuks exposing each of the Sub-

Funds to cash flow interest rate risk. The impact of 100 basis points increase / decrease in KIBOR on June 30, 2018, with all 

other variables held constant, on the net assets of the Fund for the year is shown below:

Effect on total comprehensive income for the year and net assets

The policy of the Fund is to make investments only in designated authorised investments approved by the Investment Committee.

The Fund primarily invests in listed equity securities, government securities, term finance certificates, sukuk certificates and deposits 

with scheduled banks. These activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks such as: market risks, credit risk and liquidity risks.

The Fund's interest rate risk arises from the balances in savings accounts, term deposit and KIBOR based profit bearing 

Sukuks exposing each of the Sub-Funds to cash flow interest rate risk.

For the year, income would have increased / (decreased) by Rs. 0.667 million, 4.526 million and 2.805 million (2017: Rs.1.384 

million, 0.601 million and 2.208 million) of Equity sub-fund, Debt sub-fund and Money Market sub-fund, respectively, had the 

interest rates on savings accounts with banks increased / (decreased) by 100 basis points. 



Total

% % %

On-balance sheet

financial instruments

Financial assets

Bank balances 3.75 - 6.2 66,683                -                         -                  14,359                    81,042                    3.75 - 6.2 452,550              -                         -                        1,989                      454,539               3.75 - 6.2 280,538                -                    -                       250                       280,788              816,369                  

Investments - net -                      -                         -                  1,409,445               1,409,445               5.51 - 6.33 -                      172,936                 -                        -                         172,936               7.06 - 7.25 -                        70,266              -                       -                        70,266                1,652,647               

Term Deposit Receipts -                      -                         -                  -                          -                         -                      -                         -                        -                         -                       6.1 72,000                  -                    -                       -                        72,000                72,000                    

Dividend and other receivable -                      -                         -                  25,146                    25,146                    -                      -                         -                        16,094                    16,094                 -                        -                    -                       18,463                  18,463                59,703                    

66,683                -                         -                  1,448,950               1,515,633               452,550              172,936                 -                        18,083                    643,569               352,538                70,266              -                       18,713                  441,517              2,600,719               

Financial liabilities 

Payable to UBL Asset Management 

Limited - Pension Fund Manager -                      -                         -                  2,441                      2,441                      -                      -                         -                        1,017                      1,017                   -                        -                    -                       786                       786                     4,244                      

Payable to the Central Depository

 Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee -                      -                         -                  170                         170                         -                      -                         -                        70                           70                        -                        -                    -                       44                         44                       284                         

Accrued expenses and other liabilities -                      -                         -                  2,344                      2,344                      -                      -                         -                        902                         902                      -                        -                    -                       4,340                    4,340                  7,586                      

Net assets attributable to redeemable units -                      -                         -                  1,492,286               1,492,286               -                      -                         -                        638,457                  638,457               -                        -                    -                       434,735                434,735              2,565,478               

-                      -                         -                  1,497,241               1,497,241               -                      -                         -                        640,446                  640,446               -                        -                    -                       439,905                439,905              2,577,592               

On-balance sheet gap 66,683                -                         -                  (48,291)                   18,392                    452,550              172,936                 -                        (622,363)                3,123                   352,538                70,266              -                       (421,192)               1,612                  23,127                    

Off-balance sheet

financial instruments -                      -                         -                  -                          -                         -                      -                         -                        -                         -                       -                        -                    -                       -                        -                      -                          

Off-balance sheet gap -                      -                         -                  -                          -                         -                      -                         -                        -                         -                       -                        -                    -                       -                        -                      -                          

----------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------- ----------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------- ----------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------

Total
Upto

three

months

More

than three months 

and up to one year

More

than

one year

Up to

three

months

More

than

three months and 

up to one year

More than 

one year

Up to

three months

More than 

three months 

and up to one 

year

More

than 

one year

Exposed to yield / interest rate risk

Not exposed to 

yield / interest rate 

risk

Total
Yield / Interest 

rate

Exposed to yield / interest rate risk

Not exposed to 

yield / interest 

rate risk

Yield / interest rate sensitivity position for on balance sheet financial instruments is based on the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity date and for off balance sheet instruments is based on 

settlement date.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 2018 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

Yield /

Interest rate

Exposed to yield / interest rate risk

Not exposed to 

yield / interest rate 

risk

Total
Yield / Interest 

rate



Total

% % %

On-balance sheet

financial instruments

Financial assets

Bank balances 3.75 - 5.80 218,725              -                         -                  -                          218,725                  3.75 - 5.80 66,425                -                         -                        -                         66,425                 3.75 - 5.80 222,003                -                    -                       -                        222,003              507,153                  

Investments - net -                      -                         -                  1,483,018               1,483,018               5.24 - 6.10 -                      13,521                   392,609                -                         406,130               7.06 - 7.25 -                        -                    50,995                 -                        50,995                1,940,143               

Term Deposit Receipt -                      -                         -                  -                          -                         -                      -                         -                        -                         -                       -                        -                    -                       -                        -                      

Dividend and profit receivable -                      -                         -                  42,421                    42,421                    -                      -                         -                        15,353                    15,353                 -                        -                    -                       9,423                    9,423                  67,197                    

218,725              -                         -                  1,525,439               1,744,164               66,425                13,521                   392,609                15,353                    487,908               222,003                -                    50,995                 9,423                    282,421              2,514,493               

Financial liabilities 

Payable to UBL Asset Management 

Limited - Pension Fund Manager -                      -                         -                  3,250                      3,250                      -                      -                         -                        1,047                      1,047                   -                        -                    -                       430                       430                     4,727                      

Payable to the Central Depository 

Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee -                      -                         -                  188                         188                         -                      -                         -                        56                           56                        -                        -                    -                       30                         30                       274                         

Accrued expenses and other liabilities -                      -                         -                  6,112                      6,112                      -                      -                         -                        1,362                      1,362                   -                        -                    -                       586                       586                     8,060                      

Net assets attributable to redeemable units -                      -                         -                  1,716,239               1,716,239               -                      -                         -                        482,324                  482,324               -                        -                    -                       279,738                279,738              2,478,301               

-                      -                         -                  1,725,789               1,725,789               -                      -                         -                        484,789                  484,789               -                        -                    -                       280,784                280,784              2,491,362               

On-balance sheet gap 218,725              -                         -                  (200,350)                 18,375                    66,425                13,521                   392,609                (469,436)                3,119                   222,003                -                    50,995                 (271,361)               1,637                  23,131                    

Off-balance sheet

financial instruments -                      -                         -                  -                          -                         -                      -                         -                        -                         -                       -                        -                    -                       -                        -                      -                          

Off-balance sheet gap -                      -                         -                  -                          -                         -                      -                         -                        -                         -                       -                        -                    -                       -                        -                      -                          

----------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------- ----------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------- ----------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------

Not exposed to yield 

/ interest rate risk
Total

Yield / Interest 

rate

Exposed to yield / interest rate risk

Not exposed to 

yield / interest rate 

risk

More

than

three months and 

up to one year

More than 

one year

Up to

three months

More than three 

months and up 

to one year

More

than 

one year

Total
Yield /

Interest rate

Exposed to yield / interest rate risk

Not exposed to yield 

/ interest rate risk
Total

Yield / Interest 

rate

Exposed to yield / interest rate risk

Up to

three

months

More

than three months 

and up to one year

More

than

one year

Up to

three

months

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 2017 -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund



20.1.3 Price risk

20.2 Credit risk

-

-

In case of 5% increase / decrease in the fair value of the Fund's equity securities at fair value through profit or loss on June 30, 

2018, net income for the year would increase / decrease by Rs. 46.88 million (2017: Rs. 74.1 million) and net assets of the Fund 

would increase / decrease by the same amount as a result of gains / losses on equity securities at fair value through profit or loss.

In case of 5% increase / decrease in the fair value of the Fund's equity securities classified as available for sale on June 30, 2018, 

net assets of the Fund would increase / decrease by Rs. 23.59 million (2017: Rs. Nil) as a result of gains / losses on equity 

securities classified as available for sale.

Concentration of Credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic or industry factors similarly affect groups of counterparties whose 

aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Fund's total credit exposure. The Fund's portfolio of financial instruments is 

mostly concentrated in government securities and deposits held with a commercial bank.

The analysis is based on the assumption that the equity index had increased / decreased by 5% with all other variables held 

constant and all the Fund's equity instruments moved according to the historical correlation with the index. This represents 

management's best estimate of a reasonable possible shift in the PSX 100 Index, having regard to the historical volatility of the 

index. The composition of the Fund's investment portfolio and the correlation thereof to the KMI index, is expected to change over 

the time. Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis prepared as of June 30, 2018 is not necessarily indicative of the effect on the Fund's 

net assets of future movements in the level of PSX 100 Index.

Credit risk is managed and controlled by the Pension Fund Manager of the Fund in the following manner:

The risk of counter party exposure due to failed trades causing a loss to the Fund is mitigated by a periodic review of trade 

reports, credit ratings and financial statements on a regular basis.

Credit risk represents the risk of loss if the counter parties fail to perform as contracted. Credit risk arises from deposits with banks 

and financial institutions, credit exposure arising as a result of dividends receivable on equity securities, receivable against sale of 

investments and investment in debt securities. For banks and financial institutions balances are kept with reputed parties. Credit 

risk on dividend receivable is minimal due to statutory protection. All transactions in listed securities are settled / paid for upon 

delivery using the national clearing company system. The risk of default is considered minimal due to inherent systematic measures 

taken therein. Risk attributable to investment is limited as these are issued by the Federal Government.

The Fund limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid debt securities that have at minimum an investment grade 

as rated by a credit rating agency approved by the SECP. In the absence of issue rating, the Fund ensures that the entity has 

an investment grade as rated by a credit rating agency approved by the SECP.

The Fund’s investments in equity securities are publicly traded and are valued at the rates quoted on the relevant stock exchanges.

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk) whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 

individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

The Fund manages this risk by limiting its investment exposure in the following ways:

   -  5% of NAV or paid-up capital of the investee company, whichever is lower.

   -  higher of 30% of NAV or index weight of a single stock exchange sector, subject to a maximum limit of 35% of NAV.

A summary analysis of local investments by industry sector, the percentage in relation to Fund's assets and the issued capital of the 

investee company is presented in note 5.1 and 5.2 to these financial statements. Further, the Fund’s policy requires that the overall 

Fund position is monitored on a daily basis by the Fund Manager and is reviewed on bi-monthly basis by the Investment Committee 

and by the Board of Directors in every meeting of the Board. Non - compliance with the Fund's investment policies is reported to the 

Board of Directors.



20.2.1 Credit quality of investment in bank balances

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

17.64              63.54              23.06              1.93                30.27              24.05              

81.66              36.45              26.31              10.63              36.08              5.05                

0.69                -                  0.16                3.99                0.19                23.05              

-                  -                  24.33              70.20              3.96                23.88              

A+ 0.02                -                  26.14              13.25              29.50              23.96              

A -                  -                  -                  -                 -                  

A- -                  -                  -                  -                 -                  

Non rated -                  -                  -                  -                 -                  

100                 100                 100                 100                 100                 100                 

The maximum exposure to credit risk before any credit enhancement is the carrying amount of the financial assets.

20.2.2 There are no financial assets that are past due or impaired.

20.3 Liquidity risk

The Fund can borrow, with prior approval of the trustee, for meeting redemption requests. The maximum amount available to the 

Fund from borrowings is limited to the extent of 15% of total assets at the time of borrowing with repayment in 90 days of such 

borrowings. No such borrowings were made during the year.

% of financial assets 

exposed to credit risk exposed to credit risk exposed to credit risk 

AAA

AA+

AA

AA-

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations and commitments associated with financial 

instruments. The Pension Fund Manager manages liquidity risk by continuously analysing the maturities of its financial liabilities.

The Fund's policy is to manage this risk by investing majority of its assets in investments that are traded in an active market and 

can be readily disposed of.

Rating*

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

% of financial assets % of financial assets 

The credit quality of balances with banks that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the external credit 

ratings or to the historical information about counterparty default rates:



Particulars 

Up to

three

months

Over three

months

and up to

one year

Over

one

year

Total

Up to

three

months

Over three

months

and up to

one year

Over

one

year

Total

Up to

three

months

Over three

months

and up to

one year

Over

one

year

Total

Financial Liabilities

Payable to UBL Asset Management

  Limited - Pension Fund Manager 2,441                                -                     -   2,441             1,017                                -                      -   1,017             786                                   -                      -   786                4,244             

Payable to the Central Depository

  Company of Pakistan Limited -

  Trustee 170                                   -                     -   170                70                                     -                      -   70                  44                                     -                      -   44                  284                

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,344                                -                     -   2,344             902                                   -                      -   902                4,340                                -                      -   4,340             7,586             

Net assets attributable to redeemable 

units 1,492,286                         -                     -   1,492,286      638,457                            -                      -   638,457         434,735                            -                      -   434,735         2,565,478      

1,497,241      -                -                1,497,241      640,446         -                -                640,446         439,905         -                -                439,905         2,577,592      

Particulars

Up to

three

months

Over three

months

and up to

one year

Over

one

year

Total

Up to

three

months

Over three

months

and up to

one year

Over

one

year

Total

Up to

three

months

Over three

months

and up to

one year

Over

one

year

Total

Financial Liabilities

Payable to UBL Fund Manager

  Limited - Pension Fund Manager 3,250                                -                     -   3,250             1,047                                -                      -   1,047             430                                   -                      -   430                4,727             

Payable to the Central Depository

  Company of Pakistan Limited -

  Trustee 188                                   -                     -   188                56                                     -                      -   56                  30                                     -                      -   30                  274                

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 6,112                                -                     -   6,112             1,362                                -                      -   1,362             586                                   -                      -   586                8,060             

Net assets attributable to redeemable 

units 1,716,239                         -                     -   1,716,239      482,324                            -                      -   482,324         279,738                            -                      -   279,738         2,478,301      

1,725,789      -                -                1,725,789      484,789         -                -                484,789         280,784         -                -                280,784         2,491,362      

The above mentioned financial liabilities do not carry any mark-up.

Units of the Fund are redeemable on demand at the participants' option. However, unit holders typically retain them from medium to long term.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------   2017  -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

Total

The table below analyses the Fund's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The 

amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows:

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  2018  -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

Total



21. PARTICIPANTS' FUNDS RISK MANAGEMENT (CAPITAL RISK)

22. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

   

-

-

-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Equity Sub Fund

At fair value through profit or loss

Equity Securities 935,006       -              -              935,006       1,483,018    -              -                1,483,018    

Available for sale

Equity Securities 471,886       -              -              471,886       -              -              -                -              

At fair value through profit or loss

Government securities - Ijarah Sukuk

Certificates -              162,618       -              162,618       -              392,609       -                392,609       

Debt securities - Privately Placed

    Sukuk Certificates -              10,318         -              10,318         -              13,521         -                13,521         

-              172,936       -              172,936       -              406,130       -                406,130       

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------

Debt Sub Fund

2018 2017

Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Fund is a going concern without any intention or requirement to curtail 

materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

Fair value of investments classified as 'at fair value through profit or loss' which are tradable in an open market is based on the market 

prices prevailing on the reporting date. The estimated fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities is considered not significantly 

different from the carrying value as the items are short-term in nature.

The Fund classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the 

measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (level 2); and

Fair value measurements using Inputs for assets or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable 

inputs) (level 3).

The table below provides information on financial assets or liabilities carried at fair values, by valuation methods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between the market 

participants at the measurement date. Consequently, differences can arise between carrying value and the fair value estimates.

The participants' fund is represented by redeemable units. These units are entitled to payment of a proportionate share, based on the 

Fund's net asset value per unit on the redemption date.

The Fund has no restrictions on the subscription and redemption of units. There is no specific capital requirement which is applicable 

to the Fund.

The Fund’s objectives when managing participants’ funds are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that it can

continue to provide returns to participants and to maintain a strong base of assets under management.

In accordance with the risk management policies stated in note 20, the Fund endeavors to invest the subscriptions received in 

appropriate investments while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet redemption. Since the participants of the Fund have invested with 

long term objective, the possibility of a significant redemption pressure is limited, such liquidity is augmented by borrowing 

arrangements (which can be entered if necessary) or disposal of investments, where necessary.

All units, including the core units, and fractions thereof represents an undivided share in the pertinent sub-funds of the Fund and rank 

pari passu as their rights in the net assets and earning of the sub-fund are not tradable or transferable. Each participant has a 

beneficial interest in the sub-fund proportionate to the units held by such participant in such sub-fund.



Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Money Market Sub Fund

At fair value through profit or loss

Government securities - GoP Ijarah

Sukuk Certificates -              70,266         -              70,266         -              50,995         -                50,995         

-              70,266         -              70,266         -              50,995         -                50,995         

23. FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

23.1 Equity sub-fund

2018 2017 % Change 2016 2015

Net (loss) / income for the year (238,613)   400,598    -160% 192,339     205,945    

Realized (losses) / gains on sale of investments (75,765)     217,415    -135% 51,692       67,106      

Unrealized gain / (loss) on revaluation of  investments classified

   as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - net (192,031)   110,899    -273% 103,827     84,448      

Dividend income 64,466      43,519      48% 31,417       16,316      

Financial Income 5,709        3,696        54% 3,136         1,488        

Impairment loss on equity securities classified as available for sale (9,760)       -            100% -             -            

NAV per unit (Rupees) 632.10      735.60      -14% 563.90       473.67      

Total contributions received - gross 773,984    541,696    43% 588,484     268,608    

23.2 Debt sub-fund

2018 2017 % Change 2016 2015

Net income for the year 17,283      20,969      -18% 13,395       13,439      

Realized (losses) / gains on sale of investments (3,499)       729           -580% (530)           184           

Unrealized gain / (loss) on revaluation of  investments classified

   as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - net (1,893)       4,081        -146% 1,073         (1,097)       

Financial Income 32,285      23,796      36% 18,045       17,986      

NAV per unit (Rupees) 163.72      159.28      3% 152.36       147.35      

Total contributions received - gross 535,870    263,050    
104%

273,664     112,575    

23.3 Money market sub-fund

2018 2017 % Change 2016 2015

Net income for the year 13,979      10,842      29% 5,822         8,629        

Realized (losses) / gains on sale of investments -            -            -            (378)           321           

Unrealized gain / (loss) on revaluation of  investments classified

   as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - net (789)          600           -232% 395            (510)          

Financial Income 18,454      12,666      46% 9,455         11,034      

NAV per unit (Rupees) 158.08      153.00      3% 147.07       142.59      

Total contributions received - gross 455,873    233,865    95% 128,697     91,791      

Debt Sub Fund

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) -----------------

Money Market Sub Fund

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) -----------------

Equity Sub Fund

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) -----------------

2018 2017

------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------



23.4 Highest and lowest issue price of units during the year

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Highest issue price 747.66      823.93      163.72      159.10      158.08       153.02      

Lowest issue price 580.75      563.90      158.52      152.22      153.01       147.01      

24. DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

25. GENERAL

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees.

Chief Executive Officer Director

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of the Pension Fund Manager on _______________.

For UBL Fund Managers Limited

(Pension Fund Manager)

Equity Sub Fund Debt Sub Fund Money Market Sub Fund

----------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------

______________________ 
Chief Financial Officer 

SD SD SD

28-Aug-2018



Al-Ameen Islamic Retirement Savings Fund - Equity Sub Fund

229,400

531,000

1,284,300

Moreover, other than above no meeting were attended and no proxies were also given.

Moreover, other than above no meeting were attended and no proxies were also given.

The proxy voting policy of the Collective Investment Scheme is available on the website of the Asset Management
Company and detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the Asset Management Company in respect of the
Collective Investment Scheme is also available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders.
Moreover, other than above no meeting were attended and no proxies were also given.

Holding Resolution For Against Abstain*
Annual General Meeting of M/s The Hub Power Company Limited to be held on
October 05, 2018, below are the meeting agendas.             
1. Approve Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended June 30,
2018.
2. Approve payment of cash dividend for the year ended June 30, 2018.
3. Appoint Auditors of the company and fix their remuneration.
4. Election of nine Directors for a period of three years.
5. Consider and Approve, if though appropriate, Issuance of Letter of Support (LOS)
Guarantee to Private Power & Infrastructure Board (PPIB) for Thar Energy Limited
(TEL).
6. Transact any other business with permission of Chairman.

a

Extra Ordinary General Meeting of M/s Tariq Glass Industries Limited was held on
August 30, 2017, below resolutions were passed.             
1. Confirm minutes of 38th Annual General Meeting held on October 27, 2016.
2. Election of seven Directors of the Company for a period of three years.
3. Approval for increasing Authorized Capital of the Company.
4. Alteration in the Articles of Association of the Company for Authorization of E-
Voting.
5. Revision in Meeting fee for Directors.
6. Transact other business with permission of the Chairman. 

a

The proxy voting policy of the Collective Investment Scheme is available on the website of the Asset Management Company and
detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the Asset Management Company in respect of the Collective Investment Scheme
is also available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders.

The proxy voting policy of the Collective Investment Scheme is available on the website of the Asset Management
Company and detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the Asset Management Company in respect of the
Collective Investment Scheme is also available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders.

Holding Resolution For Against Abstain*

Holding Resolution For Against Abstain*
Annual General Meeting of M/s Kohat Cement Company Limited was held on October
23, 2017, below resolutions were passed.             
1. The Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2017.
2. Approve payment of cash dividend for the year ended June 30, 2017.
3. Appoint Auditors of the company and fix their remuneration for the year ending June
30, 2017.
4. Ratify and approve transactions carried out with Related Parties during financial
year ended June 30, 2017.
5. Authorize the Chief Executive of the Company for approval of transactions with
related parties during financial year ended June 30, 2017. 
6. Approval of appointments of related parties to respective offices of profit in the
Company.
7. Alteration in the Articles of Association of the Company for purpose of e-voting.

a



19,650
Extra Ordinary General Meeting of M/s Attock Petroleum Limited was held on March
01, 2018, below resolutions were passed.             
1. Election of seven Directors of the Bank for a period of three years. a

115,000

80,150

Extra-Ordinary General Meeting of M/s Thal Limited was held on March 22, 2018,
below resolutions were passed.             
1. Approved to invest and arrange a Standby Letter of Credit in favor of lenders of
ThalNova as required  by sponsor support agreement.
2. Approved to contribute towards payments required to be made to foreign currency
lenders of ThalNova and assign company’s rights in respect of any investment made in
ThalNova by way of loan.
3. Approved that for investments approval be accorded by the Board with jointly signed
by the CEO and a director.
   

a

The proxy voting policy of the Collective Investment Scheme is available on the website of the Asset Management
Company and detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the Asset Management Company in respect of the
Collective Investment Scheme is also available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders.
Moreover, other than above no meeting were attended and no proxies were also given.

The proxy voting policy of the Collective Investment Scheme is available on the website of the Asset Management
Company and detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the Asset Management Company in respect of the
Collective Investment Scheme is also available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders.
Moreover, other than above no meeting were attended and no proxies were also given.

Holding Resolution For Against Abstain*

Holding Resolution For Against Abstain*
Annual General Meeting of M/s Engro Corporation Limited was held on April 24,
2018, below resolutions were passed.             
1. Approve Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017.
2. Approve payment of cash dividend for the year ended December 31, 2017.
3. Appoint Auditors of the company and fix their remuneration.
4. Election of nine Directors of the Company.
5. Accorded to lend/provide short term facilities to associated companies.
6. Alteration in the Articles of Association of the Company. 

a

The proxy voting policy of the Collective Investment Scheme is available on the website of the Asset Management
Company and detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the Asset Management Company in respect of the
Collective Investment Scheme is also available without charge, upon request, to all unit holders.
Moreover, other than above no meeting were attended and no proxies were also given.

Holding Resolution For Against Abstain*
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